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Financial review

Profit

Profit before tax was up 1%, from £3,411 million to £3,456 million.

The Group transferred its home mortgage business, National

Westminster Home Loans Limited, to The Royal Bank of

Scotland plc on 31 December 2005 and the results of this

entity have been classified as ‘Discontinued’ in 2005. Profit

from continuing operations increased by £192 million, 6%,

reflecting organic income growth.

Total income

The Group achieved strong organic growth in income during

2006. Total income was up 8% or £676 million to £9,326 million.

Total income from continuing operations was up £897 million,

11%. This growth was reflected across all divisions and was

particularly strong in UK Corporate Banking, Retail, Wealth

Management and Ulster Bank.

Net interest income was flat at £4,449 million. Net interest

income from continuing operations rose by 5%, £200 million

and represents 48% of total income (2005 – 50%).

Non-interest income increased 16% to £4,877 million. Non-

interest income from continuing operations was up 17%,

£697 million and represents 52% of total income (2005 – 50%).

Within non-interest income, fees and commissions receivable

increased by 6% to £3,928 million and fees and commissions

payable were stable at £960 million. Income from trading

activities increased by 80% to £1,458 million while other

operating income decreased by 29% to £451 million.

Operating expenses

Operating expenses rose by 12% to £5,018 million. Operating

expenses from continuing operations increased by 14% to

support business expansion.

Cost:income ratio

The Group’s cost:income ratio was 53.8% compared with

52.4% for continuing operations in 2005.

Impairment losses

Impairment losses were £852 million compared with £756 million

in 2005, an increase of 13%. Higher provisions in Retail Markets

in respect of unsecured personal loans and credit cards and

in Ulster Bank due to growth in lending were partially offset by

lower impairment losses in Corporate Markets where credit

conditions have remained benign.

Integration.

Integration costs which relate to the integration of First Active

were £67 million compared with £163 million in 2005.

Dividends

Ordinary dividends totalling £1,500 million (2005 – £350 million)

were paid to the holding company during the year.

Balance sheet

Total assets were £290.7 billion at 31 December 2006, 12%

higher than total assets of £260.6 billion at 31 December 2005.

Lending to customers, excluding repurchase agreements and

stock borrowing (“reverse repos”), increased by 12% or 

£18.1 billion to £162.9 billion. Customer deposits, excluding

repurchase agreements and stock lending (“repos”), grew by

13% or £18.2 billion to £155.4 billion.

Financial highlights

Summary consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2006
2005

2006 Discontinued Continuing
£m £m £m

Net interest income 4,449 212 4,249

Fees and commissions receivable 3,928 43 3,663

Fees and commissions payable (960) (34) (926)

Income from trading activities 1,458 — 808

Other operating income 451 — 635

Non-interest income 4,877 9 4,180

Total income 9,326 221 8,429

Operating expenses 5,018 70 4,413

Profit before impairment losses 4,308 151 4,016

Impairment losses 852 4 752

Profit before tax 3,456 147 3,264

Tax 831 44 904

Operating profit after tax 2,625 103 2,360

Discontinued operations — 103

Profit for the year 2,625 2,463

Minority interests 39 17

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 2,586 2,446

2006 2005
at 31 December £m £m

Total assets 290,661 260,603

Loans and advances to customers 182,411 159,943

Deposits 227,477 203,925

Shareholders’ equity 10,173 9,440
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Financial review continued

Description of business

The Group’s activities are organised in the following business

divisions: Corporate Markets (comprising Global Banking &

Markets and UK Corporate Banking), Retail Markets

(comprising Retail and Wealth Management), Ulster Bank and

Manufacturing. A description of each of the divisions is given

below.

Global Banking & Markets is a leading banking partner to

major corporations and financial institutions around the world,

providing a full range of debt financing, risk management and

investment services to its customers.

UK Corporate Banking provides banking, finance and risk

management services to UK corporate customers. Through its

network of relationship managers across the country it

distributes the full range of Corporate Markets’ products and

services to companies.

Retail comprises the NatWest retail brand and a number of

direct providers offering a full range of banking products and

related financial services to the personal, premium and small

business markets across several distribution channels. Retail

also includes the Group’s non-branch based retail business

that issues a comprehensive range of credit and charge cards

to personal and corporate customers and provides card

processing services for retail businesses.

Wealth Management provides private banking and investment

services to its global clients through Coutts Group and

NatWest Offshore.

Ulster Bank Group brings together the Ulster Bank and First

Active businesses. Retail Markets serves personal customers

through both brands and Corporate markets caters for the

banking needs of business and corporate customers.

Manufacturing supports the customer-facing businesses and

provides operational technology, customer support in

telephony, account management, lending and money

transmission, global purchasing, property and other services.

The Centre comprises group and corporate functions, such as

capital raising, finance, risk management, legal,

communications and human resources. The Centre manages

the Group’s capital requirements and Group-wide regulatory

projects and provides services to the operating divisions.

The RBS Group operates a shared services model in the UK

and Ireland and generally manages the businesses in those

areas on the basis of contribution. Shared costs and related

assets and liabilities are allocated to customer-facing divisions

for financial reporting purposes on a basis that the directors

consider to be reasonable.
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Report of the directors

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report together

with the audited accounts for the year ended 31 December 2006.

National Westminster Bank Plc (“the Bank”) is subject to the

Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority (“the Listing

Rules”) because it has preference shares listed on the London

Stock Exchange. These preference shares are defined as

Specialist Debt Securities under the Listing Rules. Accordingly,

the Bank is exempt from the requirement to make certain

disclosures which are normally part of the continuing

obligations of listed companies. This exemption applies to

corporate governance, directors’ remuneration and going

concern disclosures. On the basis of this exemption the Report

and Accounts does not include an Operating and financial review.

Business review 

Activities 

The Bank is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Royal Bank of

Scotland plc (“the holding company”), which is incorporated in

Great Britain and has its registered office at 36 St Andrew

Square, Edinburgh EH2 2YB. The “Group” comprises the

Bank and its subsidiary and associated undertakings. Details

of the principal subsidiary undertakings and their activities are

shown in Note 14 on the accounts. “RBS Group” comprises

The Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc (the “ultimate holding

company”) and its subsidiary and associated undertakings.

The Group is engaged principally in providing a wide range of

banking services and other financial products. In the UK, the

Bank is regulated under the Financial Services and Markets

Act 2000. Further details of the organisational structure and

business overview of the Group, including the products and

services provided by each of its divisions is included in Note

41 on the accounts.

The Bank is authorised and regulated by The Financial

Services Authority and represents the NatWest Marketing

Group. The Bank sells life policies, collective investment

schemes and pension products and advises only on the

Marketing Group’s range of these products, and also on the

RBS Investment Funds ICVC operated by RBS Collective

Investment Funds Limited.

Risk factors

The reported results of the Group are sensitive to the

accounting policies, assumptions and estimates that underlie

the preparation of its financial statements. Details of the

Group’s critical accounting policies and key sources of

accounting judgements are included in the Accounting policies

on page 16 to 17.

The Group’s approach to risk management, including its

financial risk management objectives and policies and

information on the Group’s exposure to price, credit, liquidity

and cash flow risk is discussed in Note 32 on the accounts.

Financial performance

A review of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31

December 2006 and the Group’s financial position as at that

date is contained in the Financial review on pages 3 and 4.

Employees

As at 31 December 2006, the Bank and its subsidiaries

employed 27,700 employees (full-time equivalent basis),

excluding temporary staff, throughout the world. Details of

employee related costs of the Bank and its subsidiaries are

included in Note 2 on the accounts on page 23.

Policies and practices in respect of employee issues are

managed on a consistent basis across RBS Group, and the

following sections reflect this approach. References to the

Group in the following sections relate to RBS Group.

Employee recruitment

Across the RBS Group, over 20,000 employees are recruited 

at different levels every year. The RBS Group utilises a wide

range of recruitment channels including executive search,

general advertising, an open internal jobs market, talent fora

and detailed succession planning to ensure that the recruitment

and development of its employees are fully aligned to its

organisational requirements.

Employee reward

The Group’s continuing success is closely linked to the

performance, skills and individual commitment of its employees.

In order to attract, motivate and retain the best available talent

at every level, the Group offers a comprehensive remuneration

and benefits package, Total Reward, to all employees.

Within this package, RBSelect, the Group’s benefit choice

programme, provides for UK staff in the Group a flexible way

of tailoring their reward to reflect their own individual lifestyles.

During 2006 the Group brought retirement savings provision

within RBSelect in order to provide more choice for the receipt

of retirement benefits. Employees can also participate in bonus

incentive plans specific to their business and share in the

Group’s ongoing success through profit sharing, Buy As You

Earn and Sharesave schemes, which align their interests with

those of shareholders.

Employee learning and development

The Group maintains a strong commitment to creating and

providing learning opportunities for all its employees through a

variety of personal development and training programmes and

learning networks. The Group’s employees are encouraged to

volunteer to work with its community partners. The Group

continues to invest in leadership and management development

which is consistent with its objective of being the employer of

choice: attracting, rewarding and retaining the very best talent.

Many of the Group’s development programmes are delivered

at the RBS Business School, based on the Gogarburn Campus.
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Employee communication

Employee engagement is encouraged through a variety of

means including the corporate intranet, Group and divisional

magazines, team meetings led by line managers, briefings

held by senior managers and regular dialogue with employees

and employee representatives. The Group Chief Executive and

other senior Group executives regularly communicate with

employees through ‘Question Time’ style programmes,

broadcast on the Group’s internal television network.

Employee consultation

The Group’s confidential global employee opinion survey is

externally designed, undertaken and analysed annually on

behalf of the Group by International Survey Research (ISR).

The survey enables employees to maximise their contribution

to the Group by expressing their views and opinions on a

range of key issues.

A record-breaking 87% of Group employees in over 30

countries completed the 2006 survey. For the second year in a

row, the Group scored significantly above the ISR Global

Financial Services Norm in all categories. The survey results

are presented to the Board and at divisional and team levels.

Action plans are developed to address any issues identified.

The Group recognises trade unions in the UK and Ireland.

These formal relationships are complemented by works council

arrangements in many of the Group’s mainland Europe-based

operations. The Group has a European Employee

Communication Council that provides elected employee

representatives with an opportunity to better understand the

impact on its European operations.

Diversity

The Group’s Managing Diversity policy sets a framework for

broadening the Group’s talent base, achieving the highest

levels of performance, and enabling all employees to reach

their full potential irrespective of age, disability, gender, marital

status, political opinion, race, religious belief or sexual

orientation.

The Group is also committed to ensuring that all prospective

applicants for employment are treated fairly and equitably

throughout the recruitment process. Its comprehensive

resourcing standards cover the attraction and retention of

individuals with disabilities. Reasonable adjustments are

provided to support applicants in the recruitment process

where these are required. The Group provides reasonable

workplace adjustments for new entrants into the Group and for

existing employees who become disabled during their

employment.

Health, safety, wellbeing and security

The health, safety, wellbeing and security of employees and

customers continues to be a priority for the Group. Regular

reviews are undertaken of both policies and processes to

ensure compliance with current legislation and best practice.

The Group focus is on ensuring that these policies are closely

linked to the operational needs of the business.

In the first quarter of 2006 the Group launched a Wellbeing

website which includes a health and wellbeing calendar. The

site is designed to raise awareness of international health

issues and events, and to provide lifestyle education,

information and support to employees.

Services were extended under HelpDirect, the Group’s

Employee Assistance Programme, to provide support to all

employees in the event of a critical incident. The service

provides telephone access to qualified clinicians and a global

network of counselling affiliates to enable the Group to provide

a consistent level of support to individuals and the business

wherever they are located.

Corporate responsibility

Business excellence requires that the RBS Group meets

changing customer, shareholder, investor, employee and supplier

expectations. The RBS Group believes that meeting high

standards of environmental, social and ethical responsibility is

key to the way it does business.

For the financial services sector, consumer banking issues are

the primary focus, followed by financial inclusion and capability,

financial crime and corruption, employee practices, the

challenge of climate change, support for small businesses 

and community giving. The RBS Group takes all these

responsibilities seriously, continually monitoring and managing

them through policies and practices across the RBS Group.

The Board regularly considers corporate responsibility issues

and receives a formal report on these twice each year.

Further details of the RBS Group’s corporate responsibility policies

will be contained in the 2006 Corporate Responsibility Report.

Annual report on Form 20-F

An annual report on Form 20-F will be filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission in the US and copies will be

available on request from the secretary. Much of the detailed

financial information therein is shown in these accounts.

Ordinary share capital 

Details of the authorised and issued ordinary share capital at

31 December 2006 are shown in Note 28 on the accounts.

Preference share capital

Details of the authorised and issued preference share capital

at 31 December 2006 are shown in Note 28 on the accounts.

In January 2007 the Bank redeemed the 10 million Series B

non-cumulative preference shares of US$25 each at US$25

per share.

Report of the directors continued
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Directors

The current members of the Board of directors are named on

page 2. All directors, except:

• Fred Watt, who resigned from the Board on 31 January

2006,

• Guy Whittaker, who was appointed to the Board on 

1 February 2006,

• Johnny Cameron, Mark Fisher and Bill Friedrich, who were

appointed to the Board on 1 March 2006, and

• Sir George Mathewson, who retired from the Board on 28

April 2006,

served throughout the year and to the date of signing of the

financial statements.

Larry Fish, Archie Hunter, Bud Koch, Joe MacHale, Bob Scott

and Peter Sutherland will retire and offer themselves for 

re-election at the company’s Annual General Meeting.

Directors’ interests

The interests of the directors holding office at 31 December

2006 in the shares of the ultimate holding company at that

date are disclosed in the Report and Accounts of that

company. None of the directors held an interest in the loan

capital of the ultimate holding company or in the shares or loan

capital of the Bank or any of the subsidiaries of the Bank

during the period from 1 January 2006 to 28 March 2007.

Directors' indemnities

In terms of section 309C of The Companies Act 1985 (as

amended), the directors of the Bank, members of Group

Executive Management Committee and Approved Persons

(under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000) have

been granted Qualifying Third Party Indemnity Provisions by

The Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc.

Directors' disclosure to auditors

Each of the directors at the date of approval of this report

confirms that:

(a) so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit

information of which the company’s auditors are unaware;

and

(b) the director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to

have taken as a director to make himself/herself aware of

any relevant audit information and to establish that the

company’s auditors are aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in

accordance with the provisions of section 234ZA of the

Companies Act 1985.

Charitable contributions

The total amount given for charitable purposes by the Group

during the year ended 31 December 2006 was £3.3 million 

(2005 – £2.4 million).

Political donations

No political donations were made during the year.

Policy and practice on payment of creditors

The Bank is committed to maintaining a sound commercial

relationship with its suppliers. Consequently, it is the Bank’s

policy to negotiate and agree terms and conditions with its

suppliers, which includes the giving of an undertaking to pay

suppliers within 30 days of receipt of a correctly prepared

invoice submitted in accordance with the terms of the contract

or such other payment period as may be agreed.

At 31 December 2006, the Bank’s trade creditors represented

28 days (2005 – 27 days) of amounts invoiced by suppliers.

Auditors

The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have indicated their

willingness to continue in office. A resolution to re-appoint

Deloitte & Touche LLP as the Bank’s auditor will be proposed

at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

By order of the Board.

Miller McLean 

Secretary 

28 March 2007
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The directors are required by Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

(European Commission Regulation No 1606/2002) to prepare

Group accounts and, as permitted by the Companies Act 1985

have elected to prepare Bank accounts for each financial 

year in accordance with International Financial Reporting

Standards as adopted by the European Union. They are

responsible for preparing accounts that present fairly the

financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the

Group and the Bank. In preparing those accounts, the

directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them

consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and

prudent;

• state whether applicable accounting standards have been

followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and

explained in the accounts; and

• prepare the accounts on the going concern basis unless it is

inappropriate to presume that the Bank will continue in

business.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting

records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time

the financial position of the Bank and to enable them to ensure

that the Annual report and accounts complies with the

Companies Act 1985. They are also responsible for safeguarding

the assets of the Bank and the Group and hence for taking

reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and

other irregularities.

By order of the Board.

Miller McLean

Secretary

28 March 2007

Statement of directors’ responsibilities
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of National Westminster Bank Plc

We have audited the financial statements of National

Westminster Bank Plc (“the Bank”) and its subsidiaries

(together “the Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2006

which comprise the accounting policies, the balance sheets as

at 31 December 2006, the consolidated income statement, the

cash flow statements, the statements of recognised income

and expense and the related Notes 1 to 48. These financial

statements have been prepared under the accounting policies

set out therein.

This report is made solely to the Bank’s members, as a body,

in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985.

Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to

the Bank’s members those matters we are required to state to

them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the

fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume

responsibility to anyone other than the Bank and the Bank’s

members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for

the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As described in the statement of directors’ responsibilities, the

Bank’s directors are responsible for the preparation of the

financial statements in accordance with applicable law and

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as

adopted by the European Union. Our responsibility is to audit

the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and

regulatory requirements and International Standards on

Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial

statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial

statements have been properly prepared in accordance with

the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the group financial

statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We also report to

you whether in our opinion, the information given in the

directors’ report is consistent with the financial statements.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Bank has not

kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the

information and explanations we require for our audit, or if

information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration

and other transactions is not disclosed.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report

as described in the contents section and consider whether it is

consistent with the audited financial statements. We consider

the implications for our report if we become aware of any

apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the

financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any

other information outside the Annual Report.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International

Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing

Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test

basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in

the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the

significant estimates and judgements made by the directors in

the preparation of the financial statements and of whether the

accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of

the Bank and the Group, consistently applied and adequately

disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the

information and explanations which we considered necessary

in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give

reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free

from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other

irregularity or error. In forming our opinion, we also evaluated

the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the

financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion:

• the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in

accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, of

the state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2006 and

of its profit and cash flows for the year then ended;

• the Bank financial statements give a true and fair view, in

accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union as

applied in accordance with the requirements of the

Companies Act 1985, of the state of the Bank’s affairs as at

31 December 2006;

• the financial statements have been properly prepared in

accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards

the group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS

Regulation; and

• the information given in the directors’ report is consistent

with the financial statements.

Separate opinion in relation to IFRS

As explained in the accounting policies, the Group, in addition

to complying with its legal obligation to comply with IFRS as

adopted by the European Union, has also complied with the

IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards

Board.

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view,

in accordance with IFRS, of the state of the Group’s affairs as

at 31 December 2006 and of its profit and cash flows for the

year then ended.

Deloitte & Touche LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors

Edinburgh, United Kingdom

28 March 2007

Neither an audit nor a review provides assurance on the maintenance and integrity of the website, including controls used to achieve this, and in particular on

whether any changes may have occurred to the financial information since first published. These matters are the responsibility of the directors but no control

procedures can provide absolute assurance in this area.

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements differs from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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1. Presentation of accounts

The accounts are prepared in accordance with International

Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International

Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and interpretations

issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations

Committee of the IASB (together “IFRS”) as adopted by the

European Union (“EU”). The EU has not adopted the complete

text of IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments Recognition and

Measurement’; it has relaxed some of the standard’s hedging

requirements. The Group has not taken advantage of this

relaxation and has adopted IAS 39 as issued by the IASB. The

date of transition to IFRS for the Group and the Bank and the

date of their opening IFRS balance sheets was 1 January 2004.

The Bank is incorporated in the UK and registered in England.

The accounts are prepared on the historical cost basis except

that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair

value: derivative financial instruments, held-for-trading financial

assets and financial liabilities, financial assets and financial

liabilities that are designated as at fair value through profit or

loss, available-for-sale financial assets and investment property.

Recognised financial assets and financial liabilities in fair value

hedges are adjusted for changes in fair value in respect of the

risk that is hedged.

The Bank accounts are presented in accordance with the

Companies Act 1985.

Change of accounting policy

As permitted by IFRS 1, the Group and the Bank implemented

IAS 32 ’Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation’ and

IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’

with effect from 1 January 2005. The Group adopted the

second amendment to IAS 39 ‘The Fair Value Option’ issued by

the IASB in June 2005 also from 1 January 2005. The effect of

implementing IAS 32 and IAS 39 on the Group and Bank

balance sheets and shareholders’ funds as at 1 January 2005

is set out in Note 45.

The IASB’s amendment to IAS 39, ‘Cash Flow Hedge

Accounting of Forecast Intragroup Transactions’, published in

April 2005, amended IAS 39 to permit the foreign currency risk

of a highly probable forecast intragroup transaction to qualify

as a hedged item in consolidated financial statements. The

amendment, effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2006, had no material effect on the financial

statements of the Group or the Bank.

The IASB’s amendment to IAS 39, ‘Financial Guarantee

Contracts’, published in August 2005, amended IAS 39 and

IFRS 4. The amendment defines a financial guarantee contract

and requires such contracts to be recorded initially at fair value

and subsequently at higher of the provision determined in

accordance with IAS 37 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and

Contingent Assets’ and the amount initially recognised less

amortisation. The amendment, effective for annual periods

beginning on or after 1 January 2006, had no material effect

on the Group or the Bank.

In December 2005, the IASB issued an amendment to IAS 21

‘The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates’ to clarify

that a monetary item can form part of the net investment in

overseas operations regardless of the currency in which it is

denominated and that the net investment in a foreign operation

can include a loan from a fellow subsidiary. The amendment,

adopted by the EU in May 2006, had no material effect on the

Group or the Bank.

2. Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial

statements of the Bank and entities (including certain special

purpose entities) controlled by the Group (its subsidiaries).

Control exists where the Group has the power to govern the

financial and operating policies of the entity; generally

conferred by holding a majority of voting rights. On acquisition

of a subsidiary, its identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent

liabilities are included in the consolidated accounts at their fair

value. Any excess of the cost (the fair value of assets given,

liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued

by the Group plus any directly attributable costs) of an

acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired is

recognised as goodwill. The interest of minority shareholders is

stated at their share of the fair value of the subsidiary’s net assets.

The results of subsidiaries acquired are included in the

consolidated income statement from the date control passes 

to the Group. The results of subsidiaries sold are included up

until the Group ceases to control them.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses

are eliminated on consolidation. The consolidated accounts are

prepared using uniform accounting policies.

3. Revenue recognition

Interest income on financial assets that are classified as loans

and receivables, available-for-sale or held-to-maturity and

interest expense on financial liabilities other than those at fair

value through profit or loss are determined using the effective

interest method. The effective interest method is a method of

calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial

liability (or group of financial assets or liabilities) and of

allocating the interest income or interest expense over the

expected life of the asset or liability. The effective interest rate

is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows to

the instrument’s initial carrying amount. Calculation of the

effective interest rate takes into account fees receivable, that

are an integral part of the instrument’s yield, premiums or

discounts on acquisition or issue, early redemption fees and

transaction costs. All contractual terms of a financial

instrument are considered when estimating future cash flows.

Financial assets and financial liabilities held-for-trading or

designated as at fair value through profit or loss are recorded

at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in profit or

loss together with dividends and interest receivable and payable.

Accounting policies
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Commitment and utilisation fees are determined as a

percentage of the outstanding facility. If it is unlikely that a

specific lending arrangement will be entered into, such fees

are taken to profit or loss over the life of the facility otherwise

they are deferred and included in the effective interest rate on

the advance.

Fees in respect of services are recognised as the right to

consideration accrues through the provision of the service 

to the customer. The arrangements are generally contractual

and the cost of providing the service is incurred as the 

service is rendered. The price is usually fixed and always

determinable. The application of this policy to significant fee

types is outlined below.

Payment services: this comprises income received for payment

services including cheques cashed, direct debits, Clearing

House Automated Payments (the UK electronic settlement

system) and BACS payments (the automated clearing house

that processes direct debits and direct credits). These are

generally charged on a per transaction basis. The income is

earned when the payment or transaction occurs. Charges for

payment services are usually debited to the customer’s

account, monthly or quarterly in arrears. Accruals are raised

for services provided but not charged at period end.

Card related services: fees from credit card business include:

Commission received from retailers for processing credit

and debit card transactions: income is accrued to the

income statement as the service is performed.

Interchange received: as issuer, the Group receives a fee

(interchange) each time a cardholder purchases goods and

services. The Group also receives interchange fees from

other card issuers for providing cash advances through its

branch and Automated Teller Machine networks. These fees

are accrued once the transaction has taken place.

An annual fee payable by a credit card holder is deferred

and taken to profit or loss over the period of the service i.e.

12 months.

Insurance brokerage: this is made up of fees and commissions

received from the agency sale of insurance. Commission on

the sale of an insurance contract is earned at the inception of

the policy as the insurance has been arranged and placed.

However, provision is made where commission is refundable in

the event of policy cancellation in line with estimated

cancellations.

Investment management fees: fees charged for managing

investments are recognised as revenue as the services are

provided. Incremental costs that are directly attributable to

securing an investment management contract are deferred and

charged as expense as the related revenue is recognised.

4. Pensions and other post-retirement benefits

The Group provides post-retirement benefits in the form of

pensions and healthcare plans to eligible employees.

For defined benefit schemes, scheme liabilities are measured on

an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method and

discounted at a rate that reflects the current rate of return on a

high quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to

the scheme liabilities. Scheme assets are measured at their fair

value. Cumulative actuarial gains or losses that exceed 10 per

cent of the greater of the assets or the obligations of the

scheme are amortised to the income statement over the

expected average remaining lives of participating employees.

Past service costs are recognised immediately to the extent that

benefits have vested; otherwise they are amortised over the

period until the benefits become vested.

Any surplus or deficit of scheme assets over liabilities adjusted

for unrecognised actuarial gains and losses and past service

costs is recognised in the balance sheet as an asset (surplus)

or liability (deficit).

Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes are

recognised in the income statement when payable.

5. Intangible assets and goodwill

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at

cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Amortisation is charged to profit or loss using methods that best

reflect the economic benefits over their estimated useful

economic lives and is included in depreciation and amortisation.

The estimated useful economic lives are as follows:

Core deposit intangibles 6 to 10 years

Other acquired intangibles 5 to 10 years

Computer software 3 to 5 years

Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands is

written-off as incurred. Direct costs relating to the development

of internal-use computer software are capitalised once

technical feasibility and economic viability have been

established. These costs include payroll, the costs of materials

and services, and directly attributable overhead. Capitalisation

of costs ceases when the software is capable of operating as

intended. During and after development, accumulated costs

are reviewed for impairment against the projected benefits that

the software is expected to generate. Costs incurred prior to

the establishment of technical feasibility and economic viability

are expensed as incurred as are all training costs and general

overhead. The costs of licences to use computer software that

are expected to generate economic benefits beyond one year

are also capitalised.

Acquired goodwill being the excess of the cost of an

acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the

identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the

subsidiary, associate or joint venture acquired is initially

recognised at cost and subsequently at cost less any

accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill arising on the

acquisition of subsidiaries and joint ventures is included in the

balance sheet caption ‘Intangible assets’ and that on associates

within their carrying amounts. The gain or loss on the disposal

of a subsidiary, associate or joint venture includes the carrying

value of any related goodwill.
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On implementation of IFRS, the Group did not restate business

combinations that occurred before 1 January 2004. Under

previous GAAP, goodwill arising on acquisitions was

capitalised and amortised over its estimated useful economic

life. The carrying amount of goodwill in the Group’s opening

IFRS balance sheet was £273 million, its carrying value under

previous GAAP.

6. Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less

accumulated depreciation (see below) and impairment losses.

Where an item of property, plant and equipment comprises

major components having different useful lives, they are

accounted for separately. Property that is being constructed or

developed for future use as investment property is classified as

property, plant and equipment and stated at cost until

construction or development is complete, at which time it is

reclassified as investment property.

Depreciation is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis

so as to write-off the depreciable amount of property, plant

and equipment (including assets owned and let on operating

leases (except investment property – see accounting policy 

17 below)) over their estimated useful lives. The depreciable

amount is the cost of an asset less its residual value. Land is

not depreciated. Estimated useful lives are as follows:

Freehold and long leasehold buildings 50 years

Short leaseholds unexpired period 

of the lease

Property adaptation costs 10 to 15 years

Computer equipment up to 5 years

Other equipment 4 to 15 years

Under previous GAAP, the Group’s freehold and long leasehold

property occupied for its own use was recorded at valuation on

the basis of existing use value. The Group elected to use this

valuation as at 31 December 2003 (£1,334 million) as deemed

cost for its opening IFRS balance sheet (1 January 2004).

7. Impairment of intangible assets and property,

plant and equipment

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is

any indication that its intangible assets, or property, plant and

equipment are impaired. If any such indication exists, the

Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset and the

impairment loss if any. Goodwill is tested for impairment

annually or more frequently if events or changes in

circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. If an asset

does not generate cash flows that are independent from those

of other assets or groups of assets, recoverable amount is

determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset

belongs. The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of

its fair value less cost to sell and its value in use. Value in use

is the present value of future cash flows from the asset or

cash-generating unit discounted at a rate that reflects market

interest rates adjusted for risks specific to the asset or cash

generating unit that have not been reflected in the estimation of

future cash flows. If the recoverable amount of an intangible or

tangible asset is less than its carrying value, an impairment

loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss and the

carrying value of the asset reduced by the amount of the loss.

A reversal of an impairment loss on intangible assets

(excluding goodwill) or property, plant and equipment is

recognised as it arises provided the increased carrying value

does not exceed that which it would have been had no

impairment loss been recognised. Impairment losses on

goodwill are not reversed.

8. Foreign currencies

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in

sterling which is the functional currency of the Bank.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at

the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign

currencies are translated into sterling at the rates of exchange

ruling at the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange differences

arising on translation are reported in income from trading

activities except for differences arising on cash flow hedges

and hedges of net investments in foreign operations. Non-

monetary items denominated in foreign currencies that are

stated at fair value are translated into sterling at foreign

exchange rates ruling at the dates the values were determined.

Translation differences arising on non-monetary items

measured at fair value are recognised in profit or loss except

for differences arising on available-for-sale non-monetary

financial assets, for example equity shares, which are included

in the available-for-sale reserve in equity unless the asset is the

hedged item in a fair value hedge.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including

goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are

translated into sterling at foreign exchange rates ruling at the

balance sheet date. The revenues and expenses of foreign

operations are translated into sterling at average exchange

rates unless these do not approximate to the foreign exchange

rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange

differences arising on the translation of foreign operations are

recognised directly in equity and included in profit or loss on

its disposal.

9. Leases

Contracts to lease assets are classified as finance leases if

they transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of

ownership of the asset to the customer. Other contracts to

lease assets are classified as operating leases.

Finance lease receivables are stated in the balance sheet at

the amount of the net investment in the lease being the

minimum lease payments and any unguaranteed residual value

discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. Finance

lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to give a

constant periodic rate of return before tax on the net

investment. Unguaranteed residual values are subject to

regular review to identify potential impairment. If there has

been a reduction in the estimated unguaranteed residual value,

the income allocation is revised and any reduction in respect of

amounts accrued is recognised immediately.

Rental income from operating leases is credited to the income

statement on a receivable basis over the term of the lease.

Operating lease assets are included within Property, plant 

and equipment and depreciated over their useful lives (see

accounting policy 6 above).
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10. Taxation

Provision is made for taxation at current enacted rates on

taxable profits, arising in income or in equity, taking into

account relief for overseas taxation where appropriate.

Deferred taxation is accounted for in full for all temporary

differences between the carrying amount of an asset or liability

for accounting purposes and its carrying amount for tax

purposes, except in relation to overseas earnings where

remittance is controlled by the Group, and goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is

probable that they will be recovered.

11. Financial assets

On initial recognition financial assets are classified into held-to-

maturity investments; available-for-sale financial assets; held-

for-trading; designated as at fair value through profit or loss; or

loans and receivables.

Held-to-maturity investments – a financial asset is classified as

a held-to-maturity investment only if it has fixed or determinable

payments, a fixed maturity and the Group has the positive

intention and ability to hold to maturity. Held-to-maturity

investments are initially recognised at fair value plus directly

related transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at

amortised cost using the effective interest method (see

accounting policy 3 above) less any impairment losses.

Held-for-trading – a financial asset is classified as held-for-

trading if it is acquired principally for the purpose of selling in

the near term, or forms part of a portfolio of financial

instruments that are managed together and for which there is

evidence of short-term profit taking, or it is a derivative (not in

a qualifying hedge relationship). Held-for-trading financial

assets are recognised at fair value with transaction costs being

recognised in profit or loss. Subsequently they are measured

at fair value. Gains and losses on held-for-trading financial

assets are recognised in profit or loss as they arise.

Designated as at fair value through profit or loss – financial

assets that the Group designates on initial recognition as being

at fair value through profit or loss are recognised at fair value,

with transaction costs being recognised in profit or loss and

are subsequently measured at fair value. Gains and losses on

financial assets that are designated as at fair value through

profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as they arise.

Financial assets may be designated as at fair value through

profit or loss only if such designation (a) eliminates or

significantly reduces a measurement or recognition

inconsistency; or (b) applies to a group of financial assets,

financial liabilities or both that the Group manages and

evaluates on a fair value basis; or (c) relates to an instrument

that contains an embedded derivative which is not evidently

closely related to the host contract.

The Group has designated financial assets as at fair value

through profit or loss principally where the assets are

economically hedged by derivatives and fair value designation

eliminates the measurement inconsistency that would arise if

the assets were carried at amortised cost or classified as

available-for-sale.

Loans and receivables – non-derivative financial assets with

fixed or determinable repayments that are not quoted in an

active market are classified as loans and receivables except

those that are classified as available-for-sale or as held-for-

trading, or designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value plus

directly related transaction costs. They are subsequently

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method

(see accounting policy 3 above) less any impairment losses.

Available-for-sale – financial assets that are not classified as

held-to-maturity; held-for-trading; designated as at fair value

through profit or loss; or loans and receivables are classified

as available-for-sale. Financial assets can be designated as

available-for-sale on initial recognition. Available-for-sale

financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus

directly related transaction costs. They are subsequently

measured at fair value. Unquoted equity investments whose

fair value cannot be measured reliably are carried at cost and

classified as available-for-sale financial assets. Impairment

losses and exchange differences resulting from retranslating

the amortised cost of currency monetary available-for-sale

financial assets are recognised in profit or loss together with

interest calculated using the effective interest method (see

accounting policy 3 above). Other changes in the fair value of

available-for-sale financial assets are reported in a separate

component of shareholders’ equity until disposal, when the

cumulative gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Regular way purchases of financial assets classified as loans

and receivables are recognised on settlement date; all other

regular way purchases are recognised on trade date.

Fair value for a net open position in a financial asset that is

quoted in an active market is the current bid price times the

number of units of the instrument held. Fair values for financial

assets not quoted in an active market are determined using

appropriate valuation techniques including discounting future

cash flows, option pricing models and other methods that are

consistent with accepted economic methodologies for pricing

financial assets.

12. Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there

is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of

financial assets classified as held-to-maturity, available-for-sale

or loans and receivables is impaired. A financial asset or

portfolio of financial assets is impaired and an impairment loss

incurred if there is objective evidence that an event or events

since initial recognition of the asset have adversely affected

the amount or timing of future cash flows from the asset.
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Financial assets carried at amortised cost – if there is

objective evidence that an impairment loss on a financial asset

or group of financial assets classified as loans and receivables

or as held-to-maturity investments has been incurred, the

Group measures the amount of the loss as the difference

between the carrying amount of the asset or group of assets

and the present value of estimated future cash flows from the

asset or group of assets discounted at the effective interest

rate of the instrument at initial recognition. Impairment losses

are assessed individually for financial assets that are

individually significant and individually or collectively for assets

that are not individually significant. In making collective

assessment of impairment, financial assets are grouped into

portfolios on the basis of similar risk characteristics. Future

cash flows from these portfolios are estimated on the basis of

the contractual cash flows and historical loss experience for

assets with similar credit risk characteristics. Historical loss

experience is adjusted, on the basis of current observable

data, to reflect the effects of current conditions not affecting

the period of historical experience. Impairment losses are

recognised in profit or loss and the carrying amount of the

financial asset or group of financial assets reduced by

establishing an allowance for impairment losses. If in a

subsequent period the amount of the impairment loss reduces

and the reduction can be ascribed to an event after the

impairment was recognised, the previously recognised loss is

reversed by adjusting the allowance. Once an impairment loss

has been recognised on a financial asset or group of financial

assets, interest income is recognised on the carrying amount

using the rate of interest at which estimated future cash flows

were discounted in measuring impairment.

Financial assets carried at fair value – when a decline in the

fair value of a financial asset classified as available-for-sale

has been recognised directly in equity and there is objective

evidence that the asset is impaired, the cumulative loss is

removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss. The loss

is measured as the difference between the amortised cost of

the financial asset and its current fair value. Impairment losses

on available-for-sale equity instruments are not reversed

through profit or loss, but those on available-for-sale debt

instruments are reversed, if there is an increase in fair value

that is objectively related to a subsequent event.

13. Financial liabilities

On initial recognition a financial liability is classified as held-for-

trading if it is incurred principally for the purpose of selling in

the near term, or forms part of a portfolio of financial

instruments that are managed together and for which there is

evidence of short-term profit taking, or it is a derivative (not in

a qualifying hedge relationship). Held-for-trading financial

liabilities are recognised at fair value with transaction costs

being recognised in profit or loss. Subsequently they are

measured at fair value. Gains and losses are recognised in

profit or loss as they arise.

Financial liabilities that the Group designates on initial

recognition as being at fair value through profit or loss are

recognised at fair value, with transaction costs being

recognised in profit or loss and are subsequently measured at

fair value. Gains and losses on financial liabilities that are

designated as at fair value through profit or loss are recognised

in profit or loss as they arise.

Financial liabilities may be designated as at fair value through

profit or loss only if such designation (a) eliminates or

significantly reduces a measurement or recognition

inconsistency; or (b) applies to a group of financial assets,

financial liabilities or both that the Group manages and

evaluates on a fair value basis; or (c) relates to an instrument

that contains an embedded derivative which is not evidently

closely related to the host contract.

The principal category of financial liabilities designated as at

fair value through profit or loss is structured liabilities issued by

the Group: designation significantly reduces the measurement

inconsistency between these liabilities and the related

derivatives carried at fair value.

All other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost

using the effective interest method (see accounting policy 

3 above).

Fair value for a net open position in a financial liability that is

quoted in an active market is the current offer price times the

number of units of the instrument held or issued. Fair values

for financial liabilities not quoted in an active market are

determined using appropriate valuation techniques including

discounting future cash flows, option pricing models and other

methods that are consistent with accepted economic

methodologies for pricing financial liabilities.

14. Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when it has been transferred

and the transfer qualifies for derecognition. A transfer requires

that the Group either: (a) transfers the contractual rights to

receive the asset’s cash flows; or (b) retains the right to the

asset’s cash flows but assumes a contractual obligation to pay

those cash flows to a third party. After a transfer, the Group

assesses the extent to which it has retained the risks and

rewards of ownership of the transferred asset. If substantially

all the risks and rewards have been retained, the asset

remains on the balance sheet. If substantially all of the risks

and rewards have been transferred, the asset is derecognised.

If substantially all the risks and rewards have been neither

retained nor transferred, the Group assesses whether or not it

has retained control of the asset. If it has not retained control,

the asset is derecognised. Where the Group has retained

control of the asset, it continues to recognise the asset to the

extent of its continuing involvement.

A financial liability is removed from the balance sheet when the

obligation is discharged, or cancelled, or expires.



Annual Report and Accounts 2006 15 A
c

c
o

u
n

ti
n

g
 p

o
li
c
ie

s

15. Capital instruments

The Group classifies a financial instrument that it issues as a

financial asset, financial liability or an equity instrument in

accordance with the substance of the contractual

arrangement. An instrument is classified as a liability if it is a

contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset,

or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities on

potentially unfavourable terms. An instrument is classified as

equity if it evidences a residual interest in the assets of the

Group after the deduction of liabilities. The components of a

compound financial instrument issued by the Group are

classified and accounted for separately as financial assets,

financial liabilities or equity as appropriate.

16. Derivatives and hedging

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially, and

subsequently measured, at fair value. Derivative fair values are

determined from quoted prices in active markets where

available. Where there is no active market for an instrument,

fair value is derived from prices for the derivative’s components

using appropriate pricing or valuation models.

A derivative embedded in a contract is accounted for as a

stand-alone derivative if its economic characteristics are not

closely related to the economic characteristics of the host

contract; unless the entire contract is carried at fair value

through profit or loss.

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of a

derivative are recognised as they arise in profit or loss unless

the derivative is the hedging instrument in a qualifying hedge.

There are three types of hedge relationship: hedges of

changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability or

firm commitment (fair value hedges); hedges of the variability

in cash flows from a recognised asset or liability or a forecast

transaction (cash flow hedges); and hedges of the net

investment in a foreign operation.

Hedge relationships are formally documented at inception. The

documentation includes identification of the hedged item and

the hedging instrument, details the risk that is being hedged

and the way in which effectiveness will be assessed at

inception and during the period of the hedge. If the hedge is

not highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash

flows attributable to the hedged risk, consistent with the

documented risk management strategy, hedge accounting is

discontinued.

Fair value hedge – in a fair value hedge, the gain or loss on the

hedging instrument is recognised in profit or loss. The gain or

loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is

recognised in profit or loss and adjusts the carrying amount of

the hedged item. Hedge accounting is discontinued if the

hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or if

the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or

exercised or if hedge designation is revoked. If the hedged

item is one for which the effective interest rate method is used,

any cumulative adjustment is amortised to profit or loss over

the life of the hedged item using a recalculated effective

interest rate.

Cash flow hedge – where a derivative financial instrument is

designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a

recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast

transaction, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the

hedging instrument is recognised directly in equity. The

ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss. When the

forecast transaction results in the recognition of a financial

asset or financial liability, the cumulative gain or loss is

reclassified from equity in the same periods in which the asset

or liability affects profit or loss. Otherwise the cumulative gain

or loss is removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss

at the same time as the hedged transaction. Hedge

accounting is discontinued if the hedge no longer meets the

criteria for hedge accounting; if the hedging instrument expires

or is sold, terminated or exercised; if the forecast transaction is

no longer expected to occur; or if hedge designation is

revoked. On the discontinuance of hedge accounting (except

where a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur),

the cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity is

recognised in profit or loss when the hedged cash flow occurs

or, if the forecast transaction results in the recognition of a

financial asset or financial liability, in the same periods during

which the asset or liability affects profit or loss. Where a

forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the

cumulative unrealised gain or loss is recognised in profit or

loss immediately.

Hedge of net investment in a foreign operation – where a

foreign currency liability hedges a net investment in a foreign

operation, the portion of foreign exchange differences arising

on translation of the liability determined to be an effective

hedge is recognised directly in equity. Any ineffective portion is

recognised in profit or loss.

17. Investment property

Investment property comprises freehold and leasehold

properties that are held to earn rentals or for capital

appreciation or both. It is not depreciated but is stated at fair

value based on valuations by independent registered valuers.

Fair value is based on current prices for similar properties in

the same location and condition. Any gain or loss arising from

a change in fair value is recognised in profit or loss. Rental

income from investment property is recognised on a straight-

line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives granted

are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income.

18. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash and demand

deposits with banks together with short-term highly liquid

investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of

cash and subject to insignificant risk of change in value.

19. Shares in Group entities

The Bank’s investments in its subsidiaries are stated at cost

less any impairment.
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Critical accounting policies and key sources of accounting

judgements

The reported results of the Group are sensitive to the

accounting policies, assumptions and estimates that underlie

the preparation of its financial statements. UK company law

and IFRS require the directors, in preparing the Group's

financial statements, to select suitable accounting policies,

apply them consistently and make judgements and estimates

that are reasonable and prudent. In the absence of an

applicable standard or interpretation, IAS 8 ‘Accounting

Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’,

requires management to develop and apply an accounting

policy that results in relevant and reliable information in the

light of the requirements and guidance in IFRS dealing with

similar and related issues and the IASB’s Framework for the

Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements. The

judgements and assumptions involved in the Group’s

accounting policies that are considered by the Board to be the

most important to the portrayal of its financial condition are

discussed below. The use of estimates, assumptions or models

that differ from those adopted by the Group would affect its

reported results.

Loan impairment provisions

The Group’s loan impairment provisions are established to

recognise incurred impairment losses in its portfolio of loans

classified as loans and receivables and carried at amortised

cost. A loan is impaired when there is objective evidence that

events since the loan was granted have affected expected

cash flows from the loan. The impairment loss is the difference

between the carrying value of the loan and the present value

of estimated future cash flows at the loan's original effective

interest rate.

At 31 December 2006, gross loans and advances to

customers totalled £184,470 million (2005 – £161,971 million)

and customer loan impairment provisions amounted to £2,059

million (2005 – £2,028 million).

There are two components to the Group’s loan impairment

provisions: individual and collective.

Individual component – all impaired loans that exceed specific

thresholds are individually assessed for impairment.

Individually assessed loans principally comprise the Group's

portfolio of commercial loans to medium and large businesses.

Impairment losses are recognised as the difference between

the carrying value of the loan and the discounted value of

management’s best estimate of future cash repayments and

proceeds from any security held. These estimates take into

account the customer’s debt capacity and financial flexibility;

the level and quality of its earnings; the amount and sources of

cash flows; the industry in which the counterparty operates;

and the realisable value of any security held. Estimating the

quantum and timing of future recoveries involves significant

judgement. The size of receipts will depend on the future

performance of the borrower and the value of security, both of

which will be affected by future economic conditions;

additionally, collateral may not be readily marketable. The

actual amount of future cash flows and the date they are

received may differ from these estimates and consequently

actual losses incurred may differ from those recognised in

these financial statements.

Collective component – this is made up of two elements: loan

impairment provisions for impaired loans that are below

individual assessment thresholds (collective impaired loan

provisions) and for loan losses that have been incurred but

have not been separately identified at the balance sheet date

(latent loss provisions). These are established on a portfolio

basis using a present value methodology taking into account

the level of arrears, security, past loss experience, credit

scores and defaults based on portfolio trends. The most

significant factors in establishing these provisions are the

expected loss rates and the related average life. These

portfolios include credit card receivables and other personal

advances including mortgages. The future credit quality of

these portfolios is subject to uncertainties that could cause

actual credit losses to differ materially from reported loan

impairment provisions. These uncertainties include the

economic environment, notably interest rates and their effect

on customer spending, the unemployment level, payment

behaviour and bankruptcy trends.

Pensions

The Group operates a number of defined benefit pension

schemes as described in Note 3 on the accounts. The assets

of the schemes are measured at their fair value at the balance

sheet date. Scheme liabilities are measured using the

projected unit method, which takes account of projected

earnings increases, using actuarial assumptions that give the

best estimate of the future cash flows that will arise under the

scheme liabilities. These cash flows are discounted at the

interest rate applicable to high-quality corporate bonds of the

same currency and term as the liabilities. Any surplus or deficit

in excess of 10% of the greater of scheme assets and scheme

liabilities is recognised in the balance sheet as an asset

(surplus) or liability (deficit). In determining the value of

scheme liabilities, assumptions are made as to price inflation,

dividend growth, pension increases, earnings growth and

employees. There is a range of assumptions that could be

adopted in valuing the schemes’ liabilities. Different

assumptions could significantly alter the amount of the deficit

recognised in the balance sheet and the pension cost charged

to the income statement. The assumptions adopted for the

Group’s pension schemes are set out in Note 3 on the

accounts. The pension deficit recognised in the balance sheet

at 31 December 2006 was £1,298 million (2005 – £1,235 million).
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Fair value

Financial instruments classified as held-for-trading or

designated as at fair value through profit or loss and financial

assets classified as available-for-sale are recognised in the

financial statements at fair value. All derivatives are measured at

fair value. In the balance sheet, financial assets carried at fair

value are included within Treasury and other eligible bills, Loans

and advances to banks, Loans and advances to customers,

Debt securities and Equity shares as appropriate. Financial

liabilities carried at fair value are included within the captions

Deposits by banks, Customer accounts, Debt securities in issue

and Subordinated liabilities. Derivative assets and Derivative

liabilities are shown separately on the face of the balance

sheets. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of

financial instruments classified as held-for-trading or designated

as at fair value through profit or loss are included in the income

statement. Unrealised gains and losses on available-for-sale

financial assets are recognised directly in equity unless an

impairment loss is recognised. The carrying value of a financial

asset or a financial liability carried at cost or amortised cost that

is the hedged item in a qualifying fair value hedge relationship

is adjusted by the gain or loss attributable to the hedged risk.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be

exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable,

willing parties in an arm's length transaction. Fair values are

determined by reference to observable market prices where

available and reliable. Where representative market prices for

an instrument are not available or are unreliable because of

poor liquidity, the fair value is derived from prices for its

components using appropriate pricing or valuation models that

are based on independently sourced market parameters,

including interest rate yield curves, option volatilities and

currency rates. Financial assets carried at fair value include

government, asset backed and corporate debt securities,

reverse repos, loans, corporate equity shares and derivatives.

Financial liabilities carried at fair value include deposits, repos

and short positions in securities. Fair value for a substantial

proportion of these instruments is based on observable market

prices or derived from observable market parameters. Where

observable prices are not available, fair value is based on

appropriate valuation techniques or management estimates.

The Group’s derivative products include swaps, forwards,

futures and options. Exchange traded instruments are valued

using quoted prices. The fair value of over-the-counter

instruments is derived from pricing models which take account

of contract terms, including maturity, as well as quoted market

parameters such as interest rates and volatilities. Most of the

Group’s pricing models do not entail material subjectivity

because the methodologies utilised do not incorporate

significant judgement and the parameters included in the

models can be calibrated to actively quoted market prices.

Values established from pricing models are adjusted for credit

risk, liquidity risk and future servicing costs.

A negligible proportion of the Group’s trading derivatives are

valued directly from quoted prices, the majority being valued

using appropriate valuation techniques. The fair value of

substantially all securities positions carried at fair value is

determined directly from quoted prices.

Details of financial instruments carried at fair value are given in

Note 33 on the accounts.

Accounting developments

International Financial Reporting Standards

The IASB issued IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ in

August 2005. The standard replaces IAS 30 ‘Disclosures in the

Financial Statements of Banks and Similar Financial

Institutions’ and the disclosure provisions in IAS 32. IFRS 7

requires disclosure of the significance of financial instruments

for an entity’s financial position and performance and of

qualitative and quantitative information about exposure to risks

arising from financial instruments. The standard is effective for

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

In August 2005, the IASB issued an amendment, ‘Capital

Disclosures’ to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’.

It requires disclosures about an entity's capital and the way

it is managed. This amendment is effective for annual periods

beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

The Group is reviewing IFRS 7 and the amendments to IAS 1

to determine their effect on its financial reporting.
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Accounting policies continued

The International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee

(‘IFRIC’) issued interpretation IFRIC 9 ‘Reassessment of

Embedded Derivatives’ in March 2006. Entities are required to

assess financial instruments for the existence of embedded

derivatives; this interpretation prohibits subsequent

reassessment unless there is a change of terms that

significantly changes the terms of the financial instrument. The

interpretation is effective for accounting periods starting on or

after 1 June 2006 and is not expected to have a material effect

on the Group or Bank.

The IFRIC issued interpretation IFRIC 10 ‘Interim Financial

Reporting and Impairment’ in July 2006. Entities recognising

an impairment of an intangible asset, goodwill or a financial

asset in their interim financial statements are not allowed to

reverse that impairment if the asset had recovered its value at

the next reporting date. The interpretation is effective for

accounting periods beginning on or after 1 November 2006

and is not expected to have a material effect on the Group or

Bank.

The IFRIC issued interpretation IFRIC 11 ‘Group and Treasury

Share Transactions’ in November 2006. Entities which buy their

own shares, or whose shareholders buy shares in the reporting

entity, in order to provide incentives to employees shall account

for those incentives on an equity-settled basis. This principle

applies also to the accounting by subsidiaries. The

interpretation is effective for annual accounting periods

beginning on or after 1 March 2007 and is not expected to

have a material effect on the Group or Bank.

The IFRIC issued interpretation IFRIC 12 ‘Service Concession

Arrangements’ in December 2006. Entities providing

infrastructure and services to governments under concession

arrangements shall account for each component of the

arrangement separately. Infrastructure provided under these

arrangements may be recognised as either a financial asset or

an intangible asset. The interpretation is effective for

accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008 and

is not expected to have a material effect on the Group or Bank.

The IASB issued IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’ in December 2006.

This will replace IAS 14 ‘Segment Reporting’ for accounting

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. IFRS 8 is very

similar to US Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No.

131 ‘Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related

Information’ and requires entities to report segment information

as reported to management and reconcile it to the financial

statements. Disclosures required by SFAS 131 are included on

pages 69 to 71.
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Consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2006

2005

2006 Discontinued* Continuing
Note £m £m £m

Interest receivable 9,825 203 8,289

Interest payable (5,376) 9 (4,040)

Net interest income 4,449 212 4,249

Fees and commissions receivable 3,928 43 3,663

Fees and commissions payable (960) (34) (926)

Income from trading activities 1 1,458 — 808

Other operating income 451 — 635

Non-interest income 4,877 9 4,180

Total income 9,326 221 8,429

Staff costs 1,754 — 1,477

Premises and equipment 266 — 114

Other administrative expenses 2,741 70 2,440

Depreciation and amortisation 257 — 382

Operating expenses  2 5,018 70 4,413

Profit before impairment losses 4,308 151 4,016

Impairment losses 15 852 4 752

Operating profit before tax 3,456 147 3,264

Tax 5 831 44 904

Operating profit after tax 2,625 103 2,360

Discontinued operations — 103

Profit for the year 2,625 2,463

Profit attributable to:

Minority interests 39 17

Ordinary shareholders 2,586 2,446

2,625 2,463

* the Group transferred its home mortgage finance business, National Westminster Home Loans Limited, to The Royal Bank of Scotland

plc on 31 December 2005 at neither a profit nor a loss.
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Balance sheets at 31 December 2006

Group Bank

2006 2005 2006 2005
Note £m £m £m £m

Assets 

Cash and balances at central banks 1,525 1,568 876 894

Treasury and other eligible bills subject to repurchase agreements 31 225 724 — —

Other treasury and other eligible bills 50 46 — —

Treasury and other eligible bills 9 275 770 — —

Loans and advances to banks 10 61,563 55,995 25,006 20,829

Loans and advances to customers 11 182,411 159,943 109,496 97,569

Debt securities subject to repurchase agreements 31 29,346 26,607 — —

Other debt securities 2,922 2,138 42 51

Debt securities 12 32,268 28,745 42 51

Equity shares 13 1,158 823 50 —

Investments in Group undertakings 14 — — 6,758 6,633

Intangible assets 16 1,209 1,198 359 347

Property, plant and equipment 17 1,719 1,531 1,009 1,044

Settlement balances 3,574 3,931 — —

Derivatives 18 2,746 2,976 1,400 1,203

Prepayments, accrued income and other assets 19 2,213 3,123 705 1,564

Total assets 290,661 260,603 145,701 130,134

Liabilities

Deposits by banks 20 46,258 46,001 6,438 5,310

Customer accounts 21 181,219 157,924 125,095 109,942

Debt securities in issue 22 14,335 10,801 29 38

Settlement balances and short positions 23 24,274 21,574 — —

Derivatives 18 2,343 2,657 1,145 1,129

Accruals, deferred income and other liabilities 24 4,108 3,579 1,231 1,464

Retirement benefit liabilities 3 1,298 1,235 1,110 1,041

Subordinated liabilities 26 5,641 6,648 4,583 5,501

Total liabilities 279,476 250,419 139,631 124,425

Equity

Minority interests 27 1,012 744 — —

Shareholders’ equity

Called up share capital 28 1,678 1,678 1,678 1,678

Reserves 29 8,495 7,762 4,392 4,031

Total equity 11,185 10,184 6,070 5,709

Total liabilities and equity 290,661 260,603 145,701 130,134

The accounts were approved by the Board of directors on 28 March 2007 and signed on its behalf by:

Sir Tom McKillop Sir Fred Goodwin Guy Whittaker

Chairman Group Chief Executive Group Finance Director
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Statements of recognised income and expense for the year ended 31 December 2006

Group Bank

2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m

Available-for-sale investments

Net valuation gains taken direct to equity 81 38 44 33

Net profit taken to income on sales (55) (324) — (320)

Cash flow hedges

Net (losses)/gains taken direct to equity (2) — 13 (39)

Net gains taken to earnings (39) (28) (28) (13)

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (491) 180 6 (5)

(Expense)/income before tax on items recognised direct in equity (506) (134) 35 (344)

Tax on items recognised direct in equity (43) 106 (50) 110

Net expense recognised direct in equity (549) (28) (15) (234)

Profit for the year 2,625 2,463 1,688 1,774

Total recognised income and expense for the year 2,076 2,435 1,673 1,540

Attributable to:

Equity shareholders 2,045 2,420 1,673 1,540

Minority interests 31 15 — —

2,076 2,435 1,673 1,540

Effect of changes in accounting policies on implementation of IFRS

Equity shareholders — (1,768) — (4,619)

Minority interests — (6) — —

— (1,774) — (4,619)
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Cash flow statements for the year ended 31 December 2006

Group Bank

2006 2005* 2006 2005*
Note £m £m £m £m

Operating activities

Operating profit before tax 3,456 3,411 1,963 2,315

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 257 382 202 326

Interest on subordinated liabilities 310 304 271 283

Charge for defined benefit pension schemes 229 149 168 97

Cash contribution to defined benefit pension schemes (135) (1,007) (70) (976)

Elimination of foreign exchange differences 1,503 (2,178) 143 189

Other non-cash items (289) (1,007) 28 (1,070)

Net cash inflow from trading activities 5,331 54 2,705 1,164

Changes in operating assets and liabilities 2,706 24,173 1,559 6,010

Net cash flows from operating activities before tax 8,037 24,227 4,264 7,174

Income taxes paid (1,157) (1,170) (588) (662)

Net cash flows from operating activities 35 6,880 23,057 3,676 6,512

Investing activities

Sale and maturity of securities 1,489 1,600 85 951

Purchase of securities (874) (1,322) (60) (80)

Sale of property, plant and equipment 268 333 265 302

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (382) (281) (85) (119)

Net investment in business interests and intangible assets 36 (92) (168) (524) (167)

Net cash flows from investing activities 409 162 (319) 887

Financing activities

Issue of subordinated liabilities 91 291 — —

Proceeds of minority interests issued 271 463 — —

Redemption of minority interests — (121) — —

Capital contribution 188 — 188 —

Repayment of subordinated liabilities (719) (210) (590) (210)

Dividends paid (1,534) (365) (1,500) (350)

Interest on subordinated liabilities (313) (319) (276) (297)

Net cash flows from financing activities (2,016) (261) (2,178) (857)

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (2,237) 2,621 (240) 135

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,036 25,579 939 6,677

Cash and cash equivalents 1 January 48,424 22,845 18,588 11,911

Cash and cash equivalents 31 December 51,460 48,424 19,527 18,588

*restated (see Note 46).
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Notes on the accounts

1 Income from trading activities Group

2006 2005
£m £m

Foreign exchange (1) 595 (33)

Interest rates (2) 352 367

Credit (3) 589 562

Equities and commodities (4) (78) (88)

1,458 808

The analysis of trading income is based on how the business is organised and the underlying risks managed; 2005 has been 

restated to reflect this. The total income from trading activities is unchanged.

Notes:

Trading income comprises gains and losses on financial instruments held for trading, both realised and unrealised, interest income and dividends and the related funding costs.

The types of instruments include:

(1) Foreign exchange: spot foreign exchange contracts, currency swaps and options, emerging markets and related hedges and funding.

(2) Interest rates: interest rate swaps, forward foreign exchange contracts, forward rate agreements, interest rate options, interest rate futures and related hedges and funding.

(3) Credit: asset-backed securities, corporate bonds, credit derivatives and related hedges and funding.

(4) Equities and commodities: equity derivatives, commodity contracts and related hedges and funding.

2 Operating expenses Group

2006 2005 
£m £m 

Wages, salaries and other staff costs 1,438 1,246

Social security costs 78 70

Pension costs 

– defined benefit schemes 229 149

– defined contribution schemes 9 12

Staff costs 1,754 1,477

Premises and equipment 266 114

Other administrative expenses 2,741 2,510

Property, plant and equipment (see Note 17) 98 105

Intangible assets (see Note 16) 159 277

Depreciation and amortisation 257 382

5,018 4,483

Integration costs included in operating expenses comprise expenditure incurred in respect of cost reduction and revenue 

enhancement targets set in connection with the various acquisitions made by the Group:

Group

2006 2005 
£m £m

Staff costs 48 17

Premises and equipment 3 1

Other administrative expenses 11 14

Depreciation and amortisation 5 131

67 163
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2 Operating expenses (continued)

The average number of persons employed by the Group during the year, excluding temporary staff, was 31,000 (2005 – 30,000).

The number of persons employed by the Group at 31 December, excluding temporary staff, was as follows:

Group

2006 2005

Global Banking & Markets 1,300 1,100

Retail 20,500 21,000

Wealth Management 3,100 2,800

Ulster Bank 4,800 4,500

Manufacturing 1,300 1,200

Total 31,000 30,600

UK 24,100 24,300

USA 1,300 1,100

Europe 5,200 4,900

Rest of the World 400 300

Total 31,000 30,600

Bank

2006 2005 
£m £m 

Wages, salaries and other staff costs 429 380

Social security costs 29 27

Pension costs (see Note 3) 

– defined benefit schemes 168 97

– defined contribution schemes — 4

Staff costs 626 508

The average number of persons employed by the Bank during the year, excluding temporary staff, was 20,700 (2005 – 20,600).

The number of persons employed by the Bank at 31 December, excluding temporary staff, was as follows:

Bank

2006 2005

Retail 19,700 20,200

Wealth Management 600 600

Total 20,300 20,800

UK 20,300 20,800

Notes on the accounts continued
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The Group operates a number of pension schemes which are

predominantly defined benefit schemes whose assets are

independent of the Group’s finances. The Bank is legally the

sponsoring employer of The Royal Bank of Scotland Group

Pension Scheme (‘Main scheme’). This scheme operates on

the basis that other members of the Group are required to

remit contributions to the scheme based on a level of

contributions agreed annually with the scheme’s actuaries.

Since October 2006, the Main scheme has been closed to

new entrants.

In addition to the Main scheme, the Group operates a 

number of other UK and overseas pension schemes. It also

provides other post-retirement benefits, principally through

subscriptions to private healthcare schemes in the UK and the

Republic of Ireland and unfunded post-retirement benefit plans.

Provision for the costs of these benefits is charged to the

income statement over the average remaining future service

lives of the eligible employees. The amounts are not material.

The corridor method of accounting permits the Bank to defer

recognition of actuarial gains and losses that are within 10%

of the larger of the fair value of plan assets and present

value of defined benefit obligations of the schemes, on an

individual scheme basis, at the reporting date. Any excess

variations are amortised prospectively over the average

remaining service lives of current members of the schemes.

3 Pension costs

Interim valuations of the Group’s schemes were prepared to 31 December by independent actuaries, using the following assumptions:

Group Bank

Principal actuarial assumptions at 31 December (weighted average) 2006 2005 2006 2005

Discount rate 5.3% 4.8% 5.3% 4.8%

Expected return on plan assets 6.9% 6.5% 6.9% 6.5%

Rate of increase in salaries 4.1% 3.9% 4.2% 3.9%

Rate of increase in pensions in payment 2.9% 2.7% 2.9% 2.7%

Inflation assumption 2.9% 2.7% 2.9% 2.7%

Group Bank

Major classes of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets 2006 2005 2006 2005

Equities 60.5% 61.4% 60.5% 61.3%

Index-linked bonds 16.7% 17.5% 17.3% 18.1%

Government fixed interest bonds 3.0% 2.3% 2.5% 1.8%

Corporate and other bonds 13.8% 14.4% 14.0% 14.6%

Property 4.6% 3.8% 4.3% 3.6%

Cash and other assets 1.4% 0.6% 1.4% 0.6%

Ordinary shares of the holding company with a fair value of £87 million (2005 – £76 million) are held by the Group’s pension schemes

together with holdings of other financial instruments issued by the Group with a value of £258 million (2005 – £299 million).

The expected return on plan assets at 31 December 2006 is based upon the weighted average of the following assumed returns on 

the major classes of plan assets:

Group Bank

2006 2005 2006 2005

Equities 8.1% 7.7% 8.1% 7.7%

Index-linked bonds 4.5% 4.1% 4.5% 4.1%

Government fixed interest bonds 4.5% 4.0% 4.5% 4.1%

Corporate and other bonds 5.3% 4.8% 5.3% 4.8%

Property 6.3% 5.9% 6.3% 5.9%

Cash and other assets 4.6% 4.1% 4.6% 4.2%

Post-retirement mortality assumptions (Main scheme) 2006 2005 2004

Longevity at age 60 for current pensioners (years)

Males 26.0 25.4 25.4

Females 28.9 28.2 28.2

Longevity at age 60 for future pensioners (years)

Males 26.8 26.2 26.2

Females 29.7 29.0 29.0
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3 Pension costs (continued) Group Bank

Present Present
value of value of

Fair value defined Net Fair value defined Net
of plan benefit pension of plan benefit pension
assets obligations liability assets obligations liability

Changes in value of net pension liability £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 January 2005 14,236 17,894 3,658 13,569 16,922 3,353

Currency translation and other adjustments (9) (14) (5) — — —

Income statement:

Expected return 972 (972) 930 (930)

Interest cost 912 912 865 865

Current service cost 484 484 448 448

Less: direct contributions from other scheme members (280) (280) (289) (289)

Past service cost 3 3 3 3

Amortisation of net unrecognised actuarial losses 2 2 — —

972 1,121 149 930 1,027 97

Actuarial gains and losses 1,639 2,321 682 1,556 2,273 717

Acquisitions of subsidiaries — 2 2 — — —

Contributions by employer 1,007 — (1,007) 976 — (976)

Contributions by other scheme members 145 145 — 154 154 —

Advances of contributions by other scheme members (750) (750) — (750) (750) —

Contributions by plan participants 3 3 — — — —

Benefits paid (528) (528) — (504) (504) —

Expenses included in service cost (18) (18) — (17) (17) —

Amortisation of net unrecognised actuarial losses (2) (2) — —

At 31 December 2005 16,697 20,174 3,477 15,914 19,105 3,191

Unrecognised actuarial losses 2,242 2,150

Retirement benefit liabilities at 31 December 2005 1,235 1,041

Unfunded schemes liabilities included in post-retirement benefit liabilities 21 11

At 1 January 2006 16,697 20,174 3,477 15,914 19,105 3,191

Currency translation and other adjustments (10) (40) (30) — (28) (28)

Income statement:

Expected return 1,023 (1,023) 1,022 (1,022)

Interest cost 938 938 919 919

Current service cost 597 597 571 571

Less: direct contributions from other scheme members (328) (328) (340) (340)

Past service cost 24 24 20 20

Amortisation of net unrecognised actuarial losses 21 21 20 20

1,023 1,252 229 1,022 1,190 168

Actuarial gains and losses 570 (1,156) (1,726) 552 (1,077) (1,629)

Disposal of subsidiaries — (1) (1) — —

Contributions by employer 135 — (135) 70 — (70)

Contributions by other scheme members 342 342 — 359 359 —

Benefits paid (517) (517) — (517) (517) —

Expenses included in service cost (27) (27) — (26) (26) —

Amortisation of net unrecognised actuarial losses (21) (21) (20) (20)

At 31 December 2006 18,213 20,006 1,793 17,374 18,986 1,612

Unrecognised actuarial losses 495 502

Retirement benefit liabilities at 31 December 2006 1,298 1,110

Unfunded schemes liabilities included in post-retirement benefit liabilities 26 15

The Group expects to contribute £442 million (Bank – £409 million) to its defined benefit pension schemes in 2007.

Notes on the accounts continued
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Group Bank

2006 2005 2004 2003 2006 2005 2004 2003
History of defined benefits schemes £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Present value of defined benefit obligations 20,006 20,174 17,894 14,354 18,986 19,105 16,922 13,651

Fair value of plan assets 18,213 16,697 14,236 12,358 17,374 15,914 13,569 11,797

Net deficit 1,793 3,477 3,658 1,996 1,612 3,191 3,353 1,854

Experience losses on plan liabilities (7) (55) (611) (4) (41) (624)

Experience gains on plan assets 570 1,639 403 552 1,556 392

Actual return on pension schemes assets 1,593 2,611 1,283 1,574 2,486 1,230

4 Auditors’ remuneration

Amounts paid to the auditors for statutory audit and other services were as follows: Group

2005
£m

Fees payable to the Group’s auditors for the audit of the Group’s annual accounts 0.8 0.6

Fees payable to the Group’s auditors and their associates for other services to the Group:

– The audit of the company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 1.4 1.4

Total audit fees 2.2 2.0

Fees payable to the Group’s auditors for non-audit services are disclosed in the consolidated financial statements of The Royal Bank of

Scotland Group plc.

2006
£m
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Notes on the accounts continued

5 Tax Group

2006 2005
£m £m

Current taxation:

Charge for the year 1,095 1,142

Over provision in respect of prior periods (251) (68)

Relief for overseas taxation — (24)

844 1,050

Deferred taxation:

Credit for the year (42) (81)

Under/(over) provision in respect of prior periods 29 (21)

Tax charge for the year 831 948

The actual tax charge differs from the expected tax charge computed by applying the standard rate of UK corporation tax 

of 30% as follows:
2006 2005

£m £m

Expected tax charge 1,037 1,023

Interest on subordinated debt not allowable for tax 12 11

Non-deductible items 158 59

Non-taxable items (35) (71)

Taxable foreign exchange movements (106) 35

Foreign profits taxed at other rates (23) (21)

Unutilised losses brought forward and carried forward 10 1

Adjustments in respect of prior periods (222) (89)

Actual tax charge for the year 831 948

6 Profit attributable to preference shareholders Group

Finance cost Finance cost
included included 

in interest in interest 
payable payable

2006 2005
£m £m

9% non-cumulative sterling preference shares, Series A 13 13

Non-cumulative dollar preference shares, Series B 11 11

Non-cumulative dollar preference shares, Series C 12 12

Total 36 36

Note:

(1) Following the implementation of IAS 32 on 1 January 2005, the Group’s preference shares are now included in subordinated liabilities and the related finance cost in interest

payable.

7 Ordinary dividends Group

2006 2005
£m £m

Dividends paid on ordinary equity shares 1,500 350
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8 Profit dealt with in the accounts of the Bank

As permitted by section 230(3) of the Companies Act 1985, no income statement for the Bank has been presented as a primary

financial statement. Of the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders, £1,688 million (2005 – £1,774 million) has been dealt with in

the accounts of the Bank.

9 Treasury and other eligible bills
Group

2006 2005
£m £m

Treasury bills and similar securities 185 634

Other eligible bills 90 136

275 770

Held-for-trading 225 724

Available-for-sale 50 46

275 770

10 Loans and advances to banks
Group Bank

2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m

Held-for-trading 11,884 17,411 147 110

Designated as at fair value through profit or loss 654 825 — —

Loans and receivables 49,025 37,759 24,859 20,719

61,563 55,995 25,006 20,829

Amounts above include:

Reverse repurchase agreements 10,793 13,135 — —

Items in the course of collection from other banks 2,306 2,071 2,108 1,929

Due from holding company 44,834 35,714 21,684 16,617

Due from fellow subsidiaries 24 10 24 7

Due from subsidiaries — — 641 1,027
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11 Loans and advances to customers
Group Bank

2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m

Held-for-trading 21,935 15,897 1,056 30

Designated as at fair value through profit or loss 516 — — —

Loans and receivables 159,516 143,235 108,440 97,539

Finance leases 444 811 — —

182,411 159,943 109,496 97,569

Amounts above include:

Reverse repurchase agreements 19,459 15,036 — —

Due from ultimate holding company 737 842 737 842

Due from fellow subsidiaries 35,358 31,838 34,119 29,327

Due from subsidiaries — — 4,143 1,878

Securitisations

The Group engages in securitisation transactions of its

financial assets including commercial and residential mortgage

loans, commercial and residential mortgage related securities,

US Government agency collateralised mortgage obligations,

and other types of financial assets. In such transactions, the

assets, or interests in the assets, are transferred generally to a

special purpose entity (“SPE”) which then issues liabilities to

third party investors.

Securitisations may, depending on the individual arrangement,

result in continued recognition of the securitised assets;

continued recognition of the assets to the extent of the

Group’s continuing involvement in those assets; or

derecognition of the assets and the separate recognition, as

assets or liabilities, of any rights and obligations created or

retained in the transfer (see Accounting policy on page 14).

The Group has securitisations in each of these categories.

Continued recognition

The table below sets out the asset categories together with the carrying amounts of the assets and associated liabilities.

Group

2006 2005

Asset type Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
£m £m £m £m

Residential mortgages (1) 5,550 5,547 2,388 2,366

Credit card receivables (2, 3) 1,384 1,286 1,232 1,232

Notes:

(1) Mortgages have been transferred to special purpose vehicles, held ultimately by charitable trusts, funded principally through the issue of floating rate notes. The Group has

entered into arm’s length fixed/floating interest rate swaps and cross-currency swaps with the securitisation vehicles and provides mortgage management and agency services

to the vehicles. On repayment of the financing, any further amounts generated by the mortgages will be paid to the Group.

(2) Credit card receivables in the UK have been securitised. Notes have been issued by a special purpose vehicle. The note holders have a proportionate interest in a pool of credit

card receivables that have been equitably assigned by the Group to a receivables trust. The Group continues to be exposed to the risks and rewards of the transferred

receivables through its right to excess spread (after charge-offs).

(3) Bank and Group.

Continuing involvement

In certain US securitisations of residential mortgages,

substantially all the risks and rewards have been neither

transferred nor retained, but the Group has retained control, as

defined by IFRS, of the assets and continues to recognise the

assets to the extent of its continuing involvement which takes

the form of retaining certain subordinated bonds issued by the

securitisation vehicles. These bonds have differing rights and,

depending on their terms, they may expose the Group to

interest rate risk where they carry a fixed coupon or to credit 

risk depending on the extent of their subordination. Certain

bonds entitle the Group to additional interest if the portfolio

performs better than expected and others give the Group the

right to prepayment penalties received on the securitised

mortgages. At 31 December 2006, securitised assets were

£37.3 billion (2005 – £39.8 billion); retained interests £930

million (2005 – £863 million); subordination assets £694 million

(2005 – £609 million) and related liabilities £694 million (2005 –

£609 million).
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12 Debt securities Group

US
government US

state government Bank and Mortgage-
UK and federal Other sponsored building backed

government agency government entity society securities(1) Corporate Other Total
2006 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Held-for-trading — 10,240 87 10,064 — 6,521 1,618 1 28,531

Designated as at fair value 

through profit or loss 1,285 — 85 — 26 — 248 5 1,649

Available-for-sale — — 925 — 692 104 101 266 2,088

At 31 December 2006 1,285 10,240 1,097 10,064 718 6,625 1,967 272 32,268

Available-for-sale

Gross unrealised gains — — 4 — — — — — 4

Gross unrealised losses — — (20) — (6) — (1) — (27)

2005

Held-for-trading — 7,019 — 8,109 — 8,541 1,752 53 25,474

Designated as at fair value 

through profit or loss 4 — — — 5 — 394 — 403

Available-for-sale — — 869 — 1,105 108 5 781 2,868

At 31 December 2005 4 7,019 869 8,109 1,110 8,649 2,151 834 28,745

Available-for-sale

Gross unrealised gains — — 2 — 2 — — — 4

Gross unrealised losses — — (8) — (3) — — — (11)

Note:

(1) Excludes securities issued by US federal agencies and government sponsored entities.

Gross gains of £2 million (2005 – £2 million) were realised by the Group on the sale of available-for-sale securities.

Bank

2006 2005

Other Other
issuers Total issuers Total

£m £m £m £m

Held-for-trading 1 1 3 3

Available-for-sale 41 41 48 48

At 31 December 42 42 51 51

13 Equity shares Group

2006 2005

Listed Unlisted Total Listed Unlisted Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Held-for-trading 42 — 42 25 1 26

Designated as at fair value through profit or loss 36 — 36 39 — 39

Available-for-sale 22 1,058 1,080 17 741 758

100 1,058 1,158 81 742 823

Available-for-sale

Gross unrealised gains 15 44 59 1 11 12

Gross unrealised losses — (5) (5) — — —

15 39 54 1 11 12

Gross gains of £84 million (2005 – £326 million) and gross

losses of nil (2005 – £1 million) were realised by the Group 

on the sale of available-for-sale equity shares.

Dividend income earned from available-for-sale equity shares

was £36 million (2005 – £48 million).

At 31 December 2006, gross unrealised losses of £5 million

represented 18 equity issues with a fair value of £24 million.

No securities were in an unrealised loss position for more than

12 months.

Unquoted equity investments whose fair value cannot be reliably

measured are carried at cost and classified as available-for-

sale financial assets. They include investments in fellow

subsidiaries of £910 million (2005 – £634 million). Disposals in

the year generated gains of £31 million (2005 – £3 million).
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13 Equity shares (continued) Bank

2006 2005

Listed Unlisted Total Listed Unlisted Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Available-for-sale 10 40 50 — — —

Available-for-sale

Gross unrealised gains 8 36 44 — — —

Disposals in the year of unquoted equity instruments classified as available-for-sale financial assets generated gains of £24 million (2005 – nil).

14 Investments in Group undertakings

Investments in Group undertakings are carried at cost less impairment. Movements during the year were as follows:

Bank

2006 2005
£m £m

At 1 January 6,633 6,253

Implementation of IAS 32 and IAS 39 on 1 January 2005 — 31

Currency translation and other adjustments (177) 140

Additions 622 —

Additional investments in group undertakings 719 218

Repayment of investments (1,022) (2)

Disposals — (7)

Increase in provisions (17) —

At 31 December 6,758 6,633

Banks 896 543

Other 5,862 6,090

The principal subsidiary undertakings of the Bank are shown below. Their capital consists of ordinary and preference shares, which

are unlisted. All of the subsidiary undertakings are owned directly or indirectly through intermediate holding companies and are all

wholly-owned. All of these subsidiary undertakings are included in the Group’s consolidated financial statements and have an

accounting reference date of 31 December.

Country of incorporation
Nature of and principal area
business of operations

Coutts & Co (1) Private banking Great Britain

Greenwich Capital Markets, Inc. (2) Broker dealer US

Ulster Bank Limited (3) Banking Northern Ireland

Notes:

(1) Coutts & Co is incorporated with unlimited liability. Its registered office is 440 Strand, London WC2R 0QS.

(2) Shares are not directly held by the Bank.

(3) Ulster Bank Limited and its subsidiary undertakings also operate in the Republic of Ireland.

The above information is provided in relation to the principal related undertakings as permitted by section 231(5) of the Companies Act 1985.

Full information on all related undertakings will be included in the Annual Return filed with the UK Companies House.
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15 Impaired and past-due financial assets Group

2006 2005

Net book Net book
Cost Provision value Cost Provision value

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Impaired financial assets

Loans and receivables and finance leases 2,984 1,865 1,119 2,798 1,829 969

Available-for-sale 11 2 9 10 4 6

2,995 1,867 1,128 2,808 1,833 975

Group

2006 2005
£m £m

Impairment losses charged to the income statement

Loans and receivables and finance leases (see table below) 852 753

Available-for-sale — 3

Total 852 756

The following table shows the movement in impairment allowances for loans and receivables and finance leases.

Group

Individually Collectively Total
assessed assessed Latent 2006 2005

£m £m £m £m £m

At 1 January 257 1,571 203 2,031 1,940

Implementation of IAS 39 on 1 January 2005 — — — — 185

Currency translation and other adjustments 10 (1) (34) (25) (2)

Disposals of subsidiaries — — — — (7)

Amounts written-off (1) (54) (747) — (801) (818)

Recoveries of amounts previously written-off 8 63 — 71 56

Charged to the income statement 59 766 27 852 753

Unwind of discount (11) (56) — (67) (76)

At 31 December (2) 269 1,596 196 2,061 2,031

Notes:

(1) Amounts written-off include £2 million in 2005 relating to loans and advances to banks.

(2) Impairment losses at 31 December 2006 include £2 million relating to loans and advances to banks (2005 – £3 million).

Bank

2006 2005

Net book Net book
Cost Provision value Cost Provision value

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Impaired financial assets

Loans and receivables and finance leases 2,462 1,599 863 2,311 1,537 774

Bank

2006 2005
£m £m

Impairment losses charged to the income statement

Loans and receivables and finance leases (see table below) 754 651

The following table shows the movement in impairment allowances for loans and receivables and finance leases.

Bank

Individually Collectively Total
assessed assessed Latent 2006 2005

£m £m £m £m £m

At 1 January 168 1,369 136 1,673 1,633

Implementation of IAS 39 on 1 January 2005 — — — — 177

Currency translation and other adjustments 12 (1) (32) (21) 5

Disposals of subsidiaries — — — — (17)

Amounts written-off (47) (655) — (702) (758)

Recoveries of amounts previously written-off 8 50 — 58 43

Charged to the income statement 44 706 4 754 651

Unwind of discount (7) (48) — (55) (61)

At  31 December 178 1,421 108 1,707 1,673
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16 Intangible assets Group

Core Other Internally
deposit purchased generated

Goodwill intangibles intangibles software Total
2006 £m £m £m £m £m 

Cost:

At 1 January 2006 760 25 29 1,682 2,496

Currency translation and other adjustments (38) — — (1) (39)

Additions — — 1 229 230

Disposal of subsidiaries (3) — — — (3)

Disposals and write-off of fully amortised assets — — — (17) (17)

At 31 December 2006 719 25 30 1,893 2,667

Accumulated amortisation and impairment:

At 1 January 2006 — 7 5 1,286 1,298

Currency translation and other adjustments — — 1 — 1

Charge for the year — 3 3 153 159

At 31 December 2006 — 10 9 1,439 1,458

Net book value at 31 December 2006 719 15 21 454 1,209

2005

Cost:

At 1 January 2005 739 24 30 1,472 2,265

Currency translation and other adjustments (7) 1 (1) — (7)

Acquisition of subsidiaries 40 — — — 40

Additions — — — 227 227

Disposals and write-off of fully amortised assets (12) — — (17) (29)

At 31 December 2005 760 25 29 1,682 2,496

Accumulated amortisation and impairment:

At 1 January 2005 — 3 3 1,015 1,021

Currency translation and other adjustments — 1 (1) — —

Charge for the year — 3 3 271 277

At 31 December 2005 — 7 5 1,286 1,298

Net book value at 31 December 2005 760 18 24 396 1,198

Bank

2006
Internally generated software £m 

Cost:

At 1 January 2006 1,622

Additions 159

At 31 December 2006 1,781

Accumulated amortisation and impairment:

At 1 January 2006 1,275

Charge for the year  147

At 31 December 2006 1,422

Net book value at 31 December 2006 359
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Bank

2005
Internally generated software £m

Cost:

At 1 January 2005 1,442

Additions 180

At 31 December 2005 1,622

Accumulated amortisation and impairment:

At 1 January 2005 1,008

Charge for the year  267

At 31 December 2005 1,275

Net book value at 31 December 2005 347

The weighted average amortisation period of purchased

intangible assets, other than goodwill, subject to amortisation

are:

Years 

Core deposit intangibles 7

Other purchased intangibles 10

The Group’s amortisation expense in respect of core deposit

intangibles and other purchased intangibles for each of the

next five years is currently estimated to be:

£m

2007 6

2008 6

2009 6

2010 6

2011 4

Impairment review

The Group’s goodwill acquired in business combinations is reviewed annually at 30 September for impairment by comparing the

recoverable amount of each cash generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated with its carrying value. There was no

impairment recognised in 2006 or 2005.

Cash generating units where goodwill is significant were as follows:

Goodwill at 30 September

Significant 2006 2005

Division aquisition Basis £m £m

Global Banking & Markets Greenwich Fair value less costs to sell 100 — 

Corporate Markets Greenwich Fair value less costs to sell — 106 

Wealth Management Bank Von Ernst Fair value less costs to sell 124 142 

Ulster Bank First Active Fair value less costs to sell 409 411 

On 1 January 2006 the Corporate Markets division was reorganised into Global Banking & Markets and UK Corporate Banking.

The recoverable amounts for all CGUs were based on fair value less costs to sell. Fair value was based upon a price-earnings

methodology using current earnings for each unit. Approximate price earnings multiples, validated against independent analyst

information were applied to each CGU. The multiples used for both 2006 and 2005 were in the range 7.0 – 13.0 times earnings 

after charging manufacturing costs.
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17 Property, plant and equipment Group

Long Short Computers Operating
Investment Freehold leasehold leasehold and other lease
properties premises premises premises equipment assets Total

2006 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Cost or valuation:

At 1 January 2006 69 1,108 269 448 280 11 2,185

Currency translation and other adjustments (1) (5) (1) (4) (11) (1) (23)

Reclassifications — 25 (41) 17 (1) — —

Additions 135 76 9 139 81 — 440

Change in fair value of investment properties (1) — — — — — (1)

Disposals and write-off of fully depreciated assets — (115) (36) (4) (41) — (196)

Disposals of subsidiaries — — — (1) (1) — (2)

Transfer to fellow subsidiary — — — (5) (1) (10) (16)

At 31 December 2006 202 1,089 200 590 306 — 2,387

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation:

At 1 January 2006 — 232 98 142 181 1 654

Currency translation and other adjustments — — — (2) (6) — (8)

Reclassifications — 3 (7) 4 — — —

Disposals and write-off of fully depreciated assets — (6) (25) (3) (38) — (72)

Depreciation charge for the year — 30 5 34 29 — 98

Transfer to fellow subsidiary — — — (2) (1) (1) (4)

At 31 December 2006 — 259 71 173 165 — 668

Net book value at 31 December 2006 202 830 129 417 141 — 1,719

2005

Cost or valuation:

At 1 January 2005 — 1,209 301 351 264 — 2,125

Currency translation and other adjustments — (15) 11 1 1 — (2)

Additions 69 28 6 127 40 11 281

Disposals and write-off of fully depreciated assets — (276) (49) (31) (25) — (381)

Transfer from fellow subsidiary — 162 — — — — 162

At 31 December 2005 69 1,108 269 448 280 11 2,185

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation:

At 1 January 2005 — 183 101 131 168 — 583

Disposals and write-off of fully depreciated assets — (43) (10) (16) (30) — (99)

Currency translation and other adjustments — 2 2 — 5 — 9

Transfer from fellow subsidiary — 56 — — — — 56

Depreciation charge for the year — 34 5 27 38 1 105

At 31 December 2005 — 232 98 142 181 1 654

Net book value at 31 December 2005 69 876 171 306 99 10 1,531

Investment properties are valued to reflect fair value, that is,

the market value of the Group’s interest at the reporting date

excluding any special terms or circumstances relating to the

use or financing of the property and transaction costs that

would be incurred in making a sale. Observed market data

such as rental yield, replacement cost and useful life, reflect

relatively few transactions involving property that, necessarily,

is not identical to property owned by the Group.

Valuations are carried out by qualified surveyors who are

members of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, or 

an equivalent overseas body. The 31 December 2006 valuation

for a significant majority of the Group’s investment properties

was undertaken by external valuers.

The fair value of investment properties does not include any

appreciation since purchase. Rental income from investment

properties was £5 million (2005 – nil).

Property, plant and equipment, excluding investment properties

include £43 million (2005 – £51 million) assets in the course of

construction.
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Bank

Long Short Computers
Freehold leasehold leasehold and other
premises premises premises equipment Total

2006 £m £m £m £m £m

Cost or valuation:

At 1 January 2006 930 105 383 7 1,425

Additions 19 3 121 — 143

Disposals and write-off of fully depreciated assets (114) (10) (2) — (126)

Transfer to fellow subsidiary — — (4) — (4)

At 31 December 2006 835 98 498 7 1,438

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation:

At 1 January 2006 217 45 116 3 381

Disposals and write-off of fully depreciated assets (4) — (1) — (5)

Depreciation charge for year 26 2 27 — 55

Transfer to fellow subsidiary — — (2) — (2)

At 31 December 2006 239 47 140 3 429

Net book value at 31 December 2006 596 51 358 4 1,009

2005

Cost or valuation:

At 1 January 2005 1,186 137 297 10 1,630

Additions 10 2 107 — 119

Disposals and write-off of fully depreciated assets (266) (34) (21) (3) (324)

At 31 December 2005 930 105 383 7 1,425

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation:

At 1 January 2005 228 48 104 3 383

Disposals and write-off of fully depreciated assets (42) (6) (10) (3) (61)

Charge for year 31 3 22 3 59

At 31 December 2005 217 45 116 3 381

Net book value at 31 December 2005 713 60 267 4 1,044

Companies in the Group enter into derivatives as principal

either as a trading activity or to manage balance sheet foreign

exchange, credit and interest rate risk. Derivatives include

swaps, forwards, futures and options. They may be traded on

an organised exchange (exchange-traded) or over-the-counter

(OTC). Holders of exchange traded derivatives are generally

required to provide margin daily in the form of cash or other

collateral.

Swaps include currency swaps, interest rate swaps, credit

default swaps, total return swaps and equity and equity index

swaps. A swap is an agreement to exchange cash flows in the

future in accordance with a pre-arranged formula. In currency

swap transactions, interest payment obligations are exchanged

on assets and liabilities denominated in different currencies;

the exchange of principal may be notional or actual. Interest

rate swap contracts generally involve exchange of fixed and

floating interest payment obligations without the exchange of

the underlying principal amounts.

Forwards include forward foreign exchange contracts and

forward rate agreements. A forward contract is a contract to

buy (or sell) a specified amount of a physical or financial

commodity, at agreed price, on an agreed future date.

Forward foreign exchange contracts are contracts for the

delayed delivery of currency on a specified future date.

Forward rate agreements are contracts under which two

counterparties agree on the interest to be paid on a notional

deposit of a specified maturity at a specific future date; there

is no exchange of principal.

Futures are exchange-traded forward contracts to buy (or sell)

standardised amounts of underlying physical or financial

commodities. The Group buys and sells currency, interest rate

and equity futures.

Options include exchange-traded options on currencies,

interest rates and equities and equity indices and OTC

currency and equity options, interest rate caps and floors and

swaptions. They are contracts that give the holder the right but

not the obligation to buy (or sell) a specified amount of the

underlying physical or financial commodity at an agreed price

on an agreed date or over an agreed period.

18 Derivatives
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18 Derivatives (continued)

Group

2006 2005

Notional Notional
amounts Assets Liabilities amounts Assets Liabilities

£bn £m £m £bn £m £m

Exchange rate contracts

Spot, forwards and futures 33 202 311 14 238 220

Currency swaps 22 326 230 9 225 217

Options purchased 6 275 — 4 128 —

Options written 6 — 302 3 — 83

Interest rate contracts

Interest rate swaps 408 1,721 1,428 340 1,871 1,729

Options purchased 174 44 — 66 420 —

Options written 116 — 43 71 — 392

Futures and forwards 196 — — 157 — —

Credit derivatives 12 15 28 4 6 15

Equity and commodity contracts 1 163 1 1 88 1

2,746 2,343 2,976 2,657
Amounts above include:

Due from/to fellow subsidiaries — — 728 751

Due from/to holding company 1,163 974 630 626

Bank

2006 2005

Notional Notional
amounts Assets Liabilities amounts Assets Liabilities

£bn £m £m £bn £m £m

Exchange rate contracts

Spot, forwards and futures 11 164 165 10 138 141

Currency swaps 1 116 3 1 115 21

Options purchased 6 272 — 3 80 —

Options written 6 — 272 2 — 80

Interest rate contracts

Interest rate swaps 82 832 687 63 840 877

Options purchased 3 15 — 2 29 —

Options written 2 — 13 2 — 10

Credit derivatives 4 — 4 1 1 —

Equity and commodity contracts — 1 1 — — —

1,400 1,145 1,203 1,129

Included in the above are cash flow hedging derivatives as follows

Interest rate swaps — 27 — 42

Included in the above are fair value hedging derivatives as follows

Interest rate swaps 61 36 — —

Amounts above include:

Due from/to holding company 763 540 626 626

Due from/to subsidiaries 67 146 54 262
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19 Prepayments, accrued income and other assets
Group Bank

2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m

Prepayments 147 76 52 45

Accrued income 192 366 124 275

Deferred taxation (see Note 25) 418 393 311 318

Other assets 1,456 2,288 218 926

2,213 3,123 705 1,564

Amounts above include:

Due from holding company — — 11 —

Due from fellow subsidiaries 75 25 — —

Due from subsidiaries — — 6 —

20 Deposits by banks
Group Bank

2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m

Held-for-trading 6,770 6,589 328 1,237

Amortised cost 39,488 39,412 6,110 4,073

46,258 46,001 6,438 5,310

Amounts above include:

Repurchase agreements 20,386 19,569 — —

Items in the course of transmission to other banks 742 705 777 761

Due to holding company 20,871 18,885 4,242 1,865

Due to fellow subsidiaries 33 35 8 9

Due to subsidiaries — 366 950

21 Customer accounts
Group Bank

2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m

Held-for-trading 8,665 10,372 196 1,560

Designated as at fair value through profit or loss 1,448 1,339 116 63

Amortised cost 171,106 146,213 124,783 108,319

181,219 157,924 125,095 109,942

Amounts above include:

Repurchase agreements 25,806 20,664 — —

Due to ultimate holding company — 3 — —

Due to fellow subsidiaries 7,380 4,754 6,901 4,399

Due to subsidiaries — 6,576 5,696

22 Debt securities in issue

Group Bank

2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m

Amortised cost 14,335 10,801 29 38

Amounts above include:

Bonds and medium term notes 4,656 1,070 29 38

Certificates of deposit and other commercial paper 9,679 9,731 — —
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23 Settlement balances and short positions
Group

2006 2005
£m £m

Settlement balances – amortised cost 2,978 3,075

Short positions – held-for-trading:

Debt securities – Government 18,981 16,846

Debt securities – Other issuers 2,022 1,347

Treasury and other eligible bills 239 288

Equity shares 54 18

24,274 21,574

24 Accruals, deferred income and other liabilities
Group Bank

2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m

Notes in circulation 405 376 — —

Current taxation 136 393 10 289

Accruals 943 888 286 260

Deferred income 145 131 108 105

Deferred tax liability (see Note 25) 11 33 — —

Other liabilities 2,468 1,758 827 810

4,108 3,579 1,231 1,464

Amounts above include:

Due to holding company 27 — 10 —

Due to fellow subsidiaries — 15 17 —

Included in other liabilities are provisions for liabilities and charges as follows:

Group Bank

Total Total
£m £m

At 1 January 2006 108 83

Currency translation and other movements — (1)

Charge to income statement 72 72

Releases to income statement (15) (15)

Provisions utilised (30) (20)

At 31 December 2006 135 119

Note:

(1) Comprises property provisions and other provisions arising in the normal course of business.
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25 Deferred taxation

Provision for deferred taxation has been made as follows:
Group Bank

2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m

Deferred tax liability (included in Accruals, deferred income and other liabilities, Note 24) 11 33 — —

Deferred tax asset (included in Prepayments, accrued income and other assets, Note 19) (418) (393) (311) (318)

Net deferred tax (407) (360) (311) (318)

Group

Fair

Accelerated value of

capital Deferred IAS financial

Pension allowances Provisions gains transition instruments Intangibles Hedging Other Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 January 2005 (601) 218 (232) 120 (131) 86 103 50 15 (372)

Charge to income statement (5) (18) 20 (28) 4 (1) (72) — (2) (102)

Charge to equity directly — — — — — (78) — (20) — (98)

Disposals of subsidiaries — — — — (7) — — — — (7)

Other 266 2 (8) — — — — — (41) 219

At 1 January 2006 (340) 202 (220) 92 (134) 7 31 30 (28) (360)

Charge to income statement (25) 32 65 6 (96) (4) (3) 16 (7) (16)

Charge to equity directly — — — — (2) (1) — (7) — (10)

Acquisitions/(disposals) of subsidiaries — (19) — — (2) — — — — (21)

Other (18) (11) 12 — (4) (1) — — 22 —

At 31 December 2006 (383) 204 (143) 98 (238) 1 28 39 (13) (407)

Bank

Fair

Accelerated value of

capital Deferred IAS financial

Pension allowances Provisions gains transition instruments Intangibles Hedging Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 January 2005 (572) 121 (136) 66 (134) 86 133 34 (402)

Charge to income statement 4 (1) 17 10 — — (67) — (37)

Charge to equity directly — — — — — (86) — (24) (110)

Other 266 — — — — — (35) — 231

At 1 January 2006 (302) 120 (119) 76 (134) — 31 10 (318)

Charge to income statement (28) 39 95 6 (99) — (23) 17 7

Charge to equity directly — — — — — — — (3) (3)

Other 1 2 — — (1) — — 1 3

At 31 December 2006 (329) 161 (24) 82 (234) — 8 25 (311)

Notes:

(1) Deferred tax assets of £31 million (2005 – £5 million) have not been recognised in respect of tax losses carried forward of £88 million (2005 – £13 million) as it is not considered

probable that taxable profits will arise against which they could be utilised. Of these losses, £44 million will expire within one year. The balance of tax losses carried forward has

no time limit.

(2) Deferred tax liabilities of £484 million (2005 – £633 million) have not been recognised in respect of retained earnings of overseas subsidiaries and held-over gains on the

incorporation of overseas branches. Retained earnings of overseas subsidiaries are expected to be reinvested indefinitely or remitted to the UK free from further taxation.

No taxation is expected to arise in the foreseeable future in respect of held-over gains.
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26 Subordinated liabilities
Group Bank

2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m

Amortised cost 5,641 6,648 4,583 5,501

Group Bank

2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m

Dated loan capital 2,916 3,418 2,000 2,415

Undated loan capital 2,303 2,765 2,161 2,621

Preference shares 422 465 422 465

5,641 6,648 4,583 5,501

The Group’s preference shares are classified as liabilities; these securities remain subject to the capital maintenance rules of the

Companies Act 1985.

The following tables analyse the remaining maturity of subordinated liabilities by (1) the final redemption date; and (2) the next

callable date.
Group

2007 2008 2009-2011 2012-2016 Thereafter Perpetual Total
2006 – final redemption £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Sterling 43 — — 348 533 900 1,824

US$ 33 87 761 22 203 1,299 2,405

Euro 37 — 763 — 143 469 1,412

Total 113 87 1,524 370 879 2,668 5,641

Group

Currently 2007 2008 2009– 2011 2012– 2016 Thereafter Perpetual Total
2006 – call date £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Sterling — 43 — 437 413 726 205 1,824

US$ 1,260 551 87 507 — — — 2,405

Euro — 37 — 1,177 — — 198 1,412

Total 1,260 631 87 2,121 413 726 403 5,641

Group

2006 2007 2008-2010 2011-2015 Thereafter Perpetual Total
2005 – final redemption £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Sterling 14 — 37 597 461 932 2,041

US$ 364 — 579 121 276 1,808 3,148

Euro 32 — 410 340 187 490 1,459

Total 410 — 1,026 1,058 924 3,230 6,648

Group

Currently 2006 2007 2008 – 2010 2011– 2015 Thereafter Perpetual Total
2005 – call date £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Sterling 140 42 — 576 762 414 107 2,041

US$ 1,306 618 464 601 143 16 — 3,148

Euro — 37 — 776 464 145 37 1,459

Total 1,446 697 464 1,953 1,369 575 144 6,648
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Bank

2007 2008 2009-2011 2012-2016 Thereafter Perpetual Total
2006 – final redemption £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Sterling 43 — — 348 328 875 1,594

US$ 31 — 507 — — 1,299 1,837

Euro 37 — 763 — — 352 1,152

Total 111 — 1,270 348 328 2,526 4,583

Bank

Currently 2007 2008 2009– 2011 2012– 2016 Thereafter Perpetual Total
2006 – call date £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Sterling — 43 — 337 348 726 140 1,594

US$ 1,057 273 — 507 — — — 1,837

Euro — 37 — 1,115 — — — 1,152

Total 1,057 353 — 1,959 348 726 140 4,583

Bank

2006 2007 2008-2010 2011-2015 Thereafter Perpetual Total
2005 – final redemption £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Sterling 14 — 37 597 296 907 1,851

US$ 10 — 579 99 — 1,809 2,497

Euro 32 — 410 340 — 371 1,153

Total 56 — 1,026 1,036 296 3,087 5,501

Bank

Currently 2006 2007 2008 – 2010 2011– 2015 Thereafter Perpetual Total
2005 – call date £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Sterling 140 42 — 576 597 496 — 1,851

US$ 1,306 32 464 579 99 17 — 2,497

Euro — 37 — 776 340 — — 1,153

Total 1,446 111 464 1,931 1,036 513 — 5,501

2006 2005
Dated loan capital £m £m

The Bank

US$1,000 million 7.375% fixed rate subordinated notes 2009 516 582

€600 million 6.0% subordinated notes 2010 452 464

£300 million 8.125% step-up subordinated notes 2011 (redeemed December 2006) — 306

€500 million 5.125% subordinated notes 2011 343 345

£300 million 7.875% subordinated notes 2015 355 369

£300 million 6.5% subordinated notes 2021 334 349

2,000 2,415

Greenwich Capital Holdings, Inc.

US$105 million subordinated loan capital floating rate notes 2006 (redeemed October 2006) — 61

US$170 million subordinated loan capital floating rate notes 2008 (issued October 2006) 87 —

US$500 million subordinated loan capital floating rate notes 2010  (callable December 2007) 256 291

First Active plc

US$35 million 7.24% subordinated bonds 2012 (callable December 2007) 22 22

£60 million 6.375% subordinated bonds 2018 (callable April 2013) 65 65

Ulster Bank Limited

€120 million perpetual floating rate notes 2019 (perpetual) 81 83

£100 million floating rate subordinated loan capital 2020 (callable September 2010) 100 100

£60 million perpetual floating rate notes 2020 (perpetual) 40 42

Coutts Bank von Ernst Ltd

US$150 million floating rate subordinated loan capital 2018 (redeemed January 2006) — 44

RBS Netherlands Holdings B.V.

€92.3 million floating rate note  2019 (callable January 2009) 62 63

NatWest Group Holdings Corporation 

US$400 million floating rate subordinated loan capital 2018 (callable on any interest payment date) 203 232

2,916 3,418
Notes:

(1) In the event of certain changes in the tax laws of the UK, all of the dated loan capital issues are redeemable in whole, but not in part, at the option of the issuer, at the principal

amount thereof plus accrued interest, subject to prior approval of the UK Financial Services Authority.

(2) Except as stated above, claims in respect of the Group’s dated loan capital are subordinated to the claims of other creditors. None of the Group’s dated loan capital is secured.

(3) Interest on all floating rate subordinated notes is calculated by reference to market rates.
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26 Subordinated liabilities (continued)
2006 2005

Undated loan capital £m £m

The Bank

US$500 million primary capital floating rate notes, Series A (callable on any interest payment date) 256 291

US$500 million primary capital floating rate notes, Series B (callable on any interest payment date) 267 295

US$500 million primary capital floating rate notes, Series C (callable on any interest payment date) 254 294

US$500 million 7.875% exchangeable capital securities (redeemed January 2006) — 295

US$500 million 7.75% reset subordinated notes (callable October 2007) 264 306

€400 million 6.625% fixed/floating rate undated subordinated notes (callable October 2009) 289 300

€100 million floating rate undated subordinated step-up notes (callable October 2009) 68 70

£325 million 7.625% undated subordinated step-up notes (callable January 2010) 361 368

£200 million 7.125% undated subordinated step-up notes (callable October 2022) 201 201

£200 million 11.5% undated subordinated notes (callable December 2022) (1) 201 201

2,161 2,621

First Active plc

£20 million 11.75% perpetual tier two capital 23 23

€30 million 11.375% perpetual tier two capital 36 37

£1.3 million floating rate perpetual tier two capital 2 2

Ulster Bank Limited

€120 million perpetual floating rate subordinated notes 81 82

2,303 2,765

Notes:

(1) Exchangeable at the option of the issuer into 200 million 8.392% (gross) non-cumulative preference shares of £1 each of National Westminster Bank Plc at any time.

(2) Except as stated above, claims in respect of the Group’s undated loan capital are subordinated to the claims of other creditors. None of the Group’s undated loan capital is secured.

(3) In the event of certain changes in the tax laws of the UK, all of the undated loan capital issues are redeemable in whole, but not in part, at the option of the issuer, at the

principal amount thereof plus accrued interest, subject to prior approval of the UK Financial Services Authority.

(4) Interest on all floating rate subordinated notes is calculated by reference to market rates.

2006 2005
Preference shares (1) £m £m

Non-cumulative preference shares of £1 

Series A £140 million 9% (non-redeemable) 142 140

Non-cumulative preference shares of US$25

Series B US$250 million 7.8752% (2) 129 148

Series C US$300 million 7.7628% (3) 151 177

422 465
Notes:

(1) Further details of the contractual terms of the preference shares is given in Note 28 on page 45.

(2) Series B preference shares carry a gross dividend of 8.75% inclusive of associated tax credit. These preference shares were redeemed in January 2007.

(3) Series C preference shares carry a gross dividend of 8.625% inclusive of associated tax credit. They are redeemable at the option of the Bank, at a premium per share of

US$0.30 until 8 April 2007, reducing to nil if the date of redemption falls after 8 April 2007.
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The 9% non-cumulative preference shares, Series A, of £1

each are non-redeemable.

The non-cumulative preference shares, Series B of US$25

each carry the right to a gross dividend of 8.625% inclusive of

tax credit. In January 2007, the Bank redeemed all of these

shares at US$25 per share.

The non-cumulative preference shares, Series C, of US$25

each carry the right to a gross dividend of 8.625% inclusive of

associated tax credit. They are redeemable at the option of the

Bank at a premium per share of US$0.30 until 8 April 2007.

There is no redemption premium if the date of redemption falls

after 8 April 2007.

The holders of sterling and dollar preference shares are entitled,

on the winding-up of the Bank, to priority over the ordinary

shareholders as regards payment of capital. Otherwise the

holders of preference shares are not entitled to any further

participation in the profits or assets of the Bank and

accordingly these shares are classified as non-equity shares.

The holders of sterling and dollar preference shares are not

entitled to receive notice of, attend, or vote at any general

meeting unless the business of the meeting includes the

consideration of a resolution for the winding-up of the Bank or

the sale of the whole of the business of the Bank or any

resolution directly affecting any of the special rights or

privileges attached to any of the classes of preference shares.

Under IFRS, the Group’s preference shares are classified as

debt and are included in subordinated liabilities on the balance

sheet (see Note 26).

27 Minority interests
Group

2006 2005
£m £m 

At 1 January 744 408

Implementation of IAS 32 and IAS 39 on 1 January 2005 — (6)

Currency translation adjustments and other movements (8) (2)

Profit attributable to minority interests 39 17

Dividends paid (34) (15)

Equity raised 271 463

Equity withdrawn — (121)

At 31 December 1,012 744

28 Share capital 
Group and Bank

Allotted, called up and fully paid Authorised

2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m

Ordinary shares of £1 each 1,678 1,678 2,250 2,250

Non-cumulative preference shares of £1 140 140 1,000 1,000

Non-cumulative preference shares of US$25 320 320 1,162 1,162

Total share capital 2,138 2,138 4,412 4,412

Allotted, called up and fully paid Authorised

Number of shares – millions 2006 2005 2006 2005

Ordinary shares of £1 each 1,678 1,678 2,250 2,250

Non-cumulative preference shares of £1 140 140 1,000 1,000

Non-cumulative preference shares of US$25 22 22 80 80
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29 Shareholders’ equity

Group Bank

2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m

Called-up share capital

At 1 January 1,678 2,102 1,678 2,102

Implementation of IAS 32 on 1 January 2005 — (424) — (424)

At 31 December 1,678 1,678 1,678 1,678

Share premium account

At 1 January 1,291 1,286 1,291 1,286

Reclassification of preference shares on implementation of IAS 32 on 1 January 2005 — 5 — 5

At 31 December 1,291 1,291 1,291 1,291

Available-for-sale reserve

At 1 January — —

Implementation of IAS 32 and IAS 39 on 1 January 2005 — 200 — 201

Unrealised gains in the year 81 38 44 33

Realised gains in the year (55) (324) — (320)

Taxation (8) 86 (13) 86

At 31 December 18 — 31 —

Cash flow hedging reserve

At 1 January 148 — 94 —

Implementation of IAS 32 and IAS 39 on 1 January 2005 — 156 — 122

Amount recognised in equity during the year (2) — 13 (39)

Amount transferred from equity to earnings in the year (39) (28) (28) (13)

Taxation (35) 20 (37) 24

At 31 December 72 148 42 94

Foreign exchange reserve

At 1 January 169 (19) (5) —

Implementation of IAS 32 and IAS 39 on 1 January 2005 — 6 — —

Retranslation of net assets (483) 182 6 (5)

At 31 December (314) 169 1 (5)

Other reserves

At 1 January 298 298 298 298

Capital contribution 188 — 188 —

At 31 December 486 298 486 298

Retained earnings

At 1 January  5,856 4,342 2,353 1,416

Implementation of IAS 32 and IAS 39 on 1 January 2005 — (582) — (487)

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 2,586 2,446 1,688 1,774

Ordinary dividends paid (1,500) (350) (1,500) (350)

At 31 December 6,942 5,856 2,541 2,353

Shareholders’ equity at 31 December 10,173 9,440 6,070 5,709

UK law prescribes that only reserves of the Bank are taken into

account for the purpose of making distributions and the

permissible applications of the share premium account and

capital redemption reserve of £298 million (2005 – £298 million)

included within other reserves.

The Group optimises capital efficiency by maintaining reserves

in subsidiaries, including regulated entities. Certain preference

shares and subordinated debt are also included within

regulatory capital. The remittance of reserves to the parent or

the redemption of shares or subordinated capital by regulated

entities may be subject to maintaining the capital resources

required by the relevant regulator.
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30 Leases

Minimum amounts receivable and payable under non-cancellable leases

2006 2005

Year in which receipt or payment will occur Year in which receipt or payment will occur

After 1 year After 1 year
Within 1 but within After 5 Within 1 but within After 5

year 5 years years Total year 5 years years Total
Group £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Finance lease assets:

Amounts receivable 157 238 227 622 99 605 381 1,085

Present value adjustment (23) (75) (80) (178) (27) (136) (110) (273)

Other movements — — — — (3) (60) (25) (88)

Present value amounts receivable 134 163 147 444 69 409 246 724

Operating lease obligations:

Future minimum lease payables:

Premises 87 293 708 1,088 84 302 655 1,041

Equipment — — — — 2 1 — 3

87 293 708 1,088 86 303 655 1,044

Bank

Operating lease obligations:

Future minimum lease payables:

Premises 69 239 525 833 66 242 452 760

Group Bank

2006 2005 2006 2005
Amounts recognised as income and expense £m £m £m £m

Operating lease payables – minimum payments 106 100 76 75

Finance lease receivables

Unearned finance income 178 273 — —

The Group provides asset finance to its customers through acting as a lessor. It purchases plant, equipment and intellectual property;

renting them to customers under lease arrangements that, depending on their terms, qualify as either operating or finance leases.

31 Collateral

Securities repurchase agreements and lending transactions

Securities transferred under repurchase transactions included within securities on the balance sheet were as follows:
Group

2006 2005
£m £m

Treasury and other eligible bills 225 724

Debt securities 29,346 26,607

29,571 27,331

All of the above securities could be sold or repledged by the holder. Securities received as collateral under reverse repurchase

agreements amounted to £42.1 billion (2005 – £34.8 billion), of which £36.8 billion (2005 – £33.1 billion) has been resold or 

repledged as collateral for the Group’s own transactions.

Other collateral given Group Bank

2006 2005 2006 2005

Assets charged as security for liabilities £m £m £m £m

Loans and advances to customers 7,318 351 1,384 —

Other — 11 — —

7,318 362 1,384 —

2006 2005 2006 2005

Liabilities secured by charges on assets £m £m £m £m

Customer accounts 1,286 8 1,286 9

Debt securities in issue 5,907 349 — —

Other liabilities — 17 — —

7,193 374 1,286 9

The Group enters into securities repurchase agreements and

securities lending transactions under which it receives or

transfers collateral in accordance with normal market practice.

Generally, the agreements require additional collateral to be

provided if the value of the securities fall below a

predetermined level. Under standard terms for repurchase

transactions in the UK and US markets, the recipient of

collateral has an unrestricted right to sell or repledge it, subject

to returning equivalent securities on settlement of the transaction.
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Risk Management is conducted on an overall basis within the

RBS Group. Therefore in the discussion on risk management 

(pages 48 to 52) references to “the Group” or “Group” Board

and committees are to the RBS Group.

Governance framework

The Board sets the overall risk appetite and philosophy for the

Group. Various Board and executive sub-committees support

these goals, as follows:

• Group Audit Committee is a committee comprising

independent non-executive directors that supports the

Board in carrying out its responsibilities for financial

reporting including accounting policies and in respect of

internal control and risk assessment. The Group Audit

Committee monitors the ongoing process of the

identification, evaluation and management of all significant

risks throughout the Group. The Committee is supported by

Group Internal Audit which provides an independent

assessment of the design, adequacy and effectiveness of

the Group’s internal controls.

• Advances Committee is a board committee that deals with

all transactions that exceed the Group Credit Committee’s

delegated authority.

In addition to the responsibilities at Board level, operational

authority and oversight is delegated to the Group Executive

Management Committee (“GEMC”), which is responsible for

implementing a risk management framework consistent with

the Board’s risk appetite. The GEMC, in turn, is supported by

the following committees:

• Group Risk Committee (“GRC”) is an executive risk

governance committee which recommends and approves

limits, processes and policies in respect of the effective

management of all material non-balance sheet risks across

the Group.

• Group Credit Committee (“GCC”) is responsible for

approving credit proposals under authority delegated to it by

the Board. Credit proposals exceeding the authority of GCC

are referred to the Advances Committee. The GCC in turn

delegates authority to divisional credit committees.

• Group Asset and Liability Management Committee

(“GALCO”), is an executive committee which is responsible

for reviewing the balance sheet, funding, liquidity, structural

foreign exchange, capital adequacy and capital raising

across the Group as well as interest rate risk in the banking

book. In addition, GALCO monitors and reviews external,

economic and environmental changes affecting such risks.

These Committees are supported by Group Internal Audit and

also by two dedicated group level functions, Group Risk

Management (“GRM”), which has responsibility for credit,

market, regulatory and enterprise risk and Group Treasury

which is responsible for the management of the Group’s

balance sheet, capital raising, intra group credit exposure,

liquidity and hedging policies. Both functions report to GEMC

and the Group Board through the Group Finance Director and

play an active role in assessing and monitoring the

effectiveness of the divisional risk management functions.

Heads of Group Risk Management and Internal Audit have

direct access to the Group Chief Executive and the Chairman

of the Group Audit Committee.

Financial risk management policies and objectives

The Board establishes the overall governance framework for

risk management and sets the risk appetite and philosophy for

the Group.

The principal financial risks that the Group manages are 

as follows:

• Credit risk: is the risk arising from the possibility that the

Group will incur losses from the failure of customers to meet

their obligations.

• Liquidity risk: is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its

obligations as they fall due.

• Market risk: the Group is exposed to market risk because of

positions held in its trading portfolios and its non-trading

businesses.

Credit risk

The objective of credit risk management is to enable the Group

to achieve appropriate risk versus reward performance whilst

maintaining credit risk exposure in line with approved risk

appetite.

The key principles for credit risk management as defined in the

Group’s Credit Risk Management Framework are set out below:

• Approval of all credit exposure is granted prior to any

advance or extension of credit.

• An appropriate credit risk assessment of the customer and

credit facilities is undertaken prior to approval of credit

exposure. This includes a review of, amongst other things,

the purpose of the credit and sources of repayment,

compliance with affordability tests, repayment history,

capacity to repay, sensitivity to economic and market

developments and risk-adjusted return.

• The Board delegates authority to Advances Committee,

Group Credit Committee and divisional credit committees.

• Credit risk authority must be specifically granted in writing to

all individuals involved in the granting of credit approval,

whether this is exercised personally or collectively as part of

a credit committee. In exercising credit authority, the

individuals act independently.

32 Risk management
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• Where credit authority is exercised personally, the individual

has no responsibility or accountability for related business

revenue origination.

• All credit exposures, once approved, are effectively

monitored and managed and reviewed periodically against

approved limits. Lower quality exposures are subject to a

greater frequency of analysis and assessment.

• Customers with emerging credit problems are identified

early and classified accordingly. Remedial actions are

implemented promptly to minimise the potential loss to the

Group.

• Portfolio analysis and reporting is used to identify and

manage credit risk concentrations and credit risk quality

migration.

Credit approval process

Different credit approval processes exist for each customer

type in order to ensure appropriate skills and resources are

employed in credit assessment and approval. Credit authority

is not extended to relationship management.

Credit risk models

Credit risk models are used throughout the Group to support

the analytical elements of the credit risk management framework,

in particular the risk assessment part of the credit approval

process, ongoing monitoring as well as portfolio analysis and

reporting. Credit risk models used by the Group can be

broadly grouped into four categories.

• Probability of default (“PD”)/customer credit grade – these

models assess the probability that the customer will fail to

make full and timely repayment of credit obligations over a

one year time horizon. Each customer is assigned an

internal credit grade which corresponds to a probability of

default. There are a number of different credit grading

models in use across the Group, each of which considers

particular characteristics of customer types in that portfolio.

The credit grading models use a combination of quantitative

inputs, such as recent financial performance and customer

behaviour, and qualitative inputs, such as company

management performance or sector outlook.

Every customer credit grade across all grading scales in the

Group can be mapped to a Group level credit grade which

uses a five band scale from AQ1 to AQ5.

• Exposure at default (“EAD”) – these models estimate the

expected level of utilisation of a credit facility at the time of

a borrower’s default. The EAD will typically be higher than

the current utilisation (e.g. in the case where further

drawings are made on a revolving credit facility prior to

default) but will not normally exceed the total facility limit.

The methodologies used in EAD modelling recognise that

customers may make more use of their existing credit

facilities in the run up to a default.

• Loss given default (“LGD”) – these models estimate the

economic loss that may be suffered by the Group on a credit

facility in the event of default. The LGD of a facility represents

the amount of debt which cannot be recovered and is

typically expressed as a percentage of the EAD. The Group's

LGD models take into account the type of borrower, facility

and any risk mitigation such as security or collateral held. The

LGD may also be affected by the industry sector of the

borrower, the legal jurisdiction in which the borrower operates

as well as general economic conditions which may impact the

value of any assets held as security.

• Credit risk exposure measurement – these models calculate

the credit risk exposure for products where the exposure is

not 100% of the gross nominal amount of the credit

obligation. These models are most commonly used for

derivative and other traded instruments where the amount of

credit risk exposure may be dependent on external variables

such as interest rates or foreign exchange rates.

Credit risk assets

Credit risk assets are an internal risk measure of the Group’s

exposure to customers. These consist of loans and advances

(including overdraft facilities), instalment credit, finance lease

receivables, debt securities and other traded instruments.

Credit risk asset quality

Internal reporting and oversight of risk assets is principally

differentiated by credit ratings. Internal ratings are used to

assess the credit quality of borrowers. Customers are

assigned credit ratings, based on various credit grading

models that reflect the probability of default. All credit ratings

across the Group map to a Group level asset quality scale.

Provision analysis

The Group’s consumer portfolios, which consist of small value,

high volume credits, have highly efficient, largely automated

processes for identifying problem credits and very short

timescales, typically three months, before resolution or

adoption of various recovery methods.

Corporate portfolios consist of higher value, lower volume

credits, which tend to be structured to meet individual

customer requirements. Provisions are assessed on a case by

case basis.

Early and active management of problem exposures ensures

that credit losses are minimised. Specialised units are used for

different customer types to ensure that the appropriate risk

mitigation is taken in a timely manner.

Portfolio provisions are reassessed regularly as part of the

Group’s ongoing monitoring process.

Provisions methodology

Provisions for impairment losses are assessed under three

categories as described below:

Individually assessed provisions are the provisions required for

individually significant impaired assets which are assessed on a

case by case basis, taking into account the financial condition

of the counterparty and any guarantor. This incorporates an

estimate of the discounted value of any recoveries and

realisation of security or collateral. The asset continues to be

assessed on an individual basis until it is repaid in full,

transferred to the performing portfolio or written-off.
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Collectively assessed provisions are the provisions on impaired

credits below an agreed threshold which are assessed on a

portfolio basis, to reflect the homogeneous nature of the

assets, such as credit cards or personal loans. The provision is

determined from a quantitative review of the relevant portfolio,

taking account of the level of arrears, security and average

loss experience over the recovery period.

Latent loss provisions are the provisions held against the

estimated impairment in the performing portfolio which has yet

to be identified as at the balance sheet date. To assess the

latent loss within the portfolio, the Group has developed

methodologies to estimate the time that an asset can remain

impaired within a performing portfolio before it is identified and

reported as such.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity management within the Group focuses on both overall

balance sheet structure and the control, within prudent limits,

of risk arising from the mismatch of maturities across the balance

sheet and from undrawn commitments and other contingent

obligations. It is undertaken within limits and other policy

parameters set by Group Asset and Liability Management

Committee (GALCO).

The structure of the Group’s balance sheet is managed to

maintain substantial diversification, to minimise concentration

across its various deposit sources, and to contain the level of

reliance on total short-term wholesale sources of funds within

prudent levels.

The degree of maturity mismatch within the overall long-term

structure of the Group’s assets and liabilities is managed within

internal policy guidelines, to ensure that term asset commitments

may be funded on an economic basis over their life. In

managing its overall term structure, the Group analyses and

takes into account the effect of retail and corporate customer

behaviour on actual asset and liability maturities where they

differ materially from the underlying contractual maturities.

The short-term maturity structure of the Group’s assets and

liabilities is managed on a daily basis to ensure that all material

cash flow obligations, and potential cash flows arising from

undrawn commitments and other contingent obligations, can

be met as they arise from day to day, either from cash inflows

from maturing assets, new borrowing or the sale or repurchase

of debt securities held.

Short-term liquidity risk is managed on a consolidated basis for

the whole Group including the Greenwich companies but

excluding the activities of Citizens and insurance businesses,

which are subject to regulatory regimes that necessitate local

management of liquidity.

Internal liquidity mismatch limits are set for all other subsidiaries

and non-UK branches which have material local treasury

activities in external markets, to ensure those activities do not

compromise daily maintenance of the Group’s overall liquidity

risk position within the Group’s policy parameters.

The level of large deposits taken from banks, corporate

customers, non-bank financial institutions and other customers

and significant cash outflows therefrom are also reviewed to

monitor concentration and identify any adverse trends.

Market risk

Market risk is defined as the risk of loss as a result of adverse

changes in risk factors including interest rates, foreign

currency and equity prices together with related parameters

such as market volatilities.

The Group is exposed to market risk because of positions held

in its trading portfolios as well as its non-trading business

including the Group’s treasury operations.

Value-at-risk (“VaR”)

VaR is a technique that produces estimates of the potential

negative change in the market value of a portfolio over a

specified time horizon at given confidence levels. For internal

risk management purposes, the Group’s VaR assumes a time

horizon of one day and a confidence level of 95%. The Group

uses historical simulation models in computing VaR. This

approach, in common with many other VaR models, assumes

that risk factor changes observed in the past are a good

estimate of those likely to occur in the future and is, therefore,

limited by the relevance of the historical data used. The

Group’s method, however, does not make any assumption

about the nature or type of underlying loss distribution. The

Group typically uses the previous 500 trading days market

data. The Group’s VaR should be interpreted in light of the

limitations of the methodology used. These limitations include:

• Historical data may not provide the best estimate of the joint

distribution of risk factor changes in the future and may fail

to capture the risk of possible extreme adverse market

movements which have not occurred in the historical window

used in the calculations.

• VaR using a one-day time horizon does not fully capture the

market risk of positions that cannot be liquidated or hedged

within one day.

• VaR using a 95% confidence level does not reflect the extent

of potential losses beyond that percentile.

The Group largely computes the VaR of trading portfolios at

the close of business and positions may change substantially

during the course of the trading day. Controls are in place to

limit the Group’s intra-day exposure; such as the calculation of

the VaR for selected portfolios. These limitations and the nature

of the VaR measure mean that the Group cannot guarantee

that losses will not exceed the VaR amounts indicated.

32 Risk management (continued)
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Trading

The principal focus of the Group’s trading activities is client

facilitation – providing products to the Group’s client base at

competitive prices. The Group also undertakes: market making –

quoting firm bid (buy) and offer (sell) prices with the intention of

profiting from the spread between the quotes; arbitrage –

entering into offsetting positions in different but closely related

markets in order to profit from market imperfections; and

proprietary activity – taking positions in financial instruments as

principal in order to take advantage of anticipated market

conditions. The main risk factors are interest rates, credit spreads

and foreign exchange. Financial instruments held in the Group’s

trading portfolios include, but are not limited to, debt securities,

loans, deposits, securities sale and repurchase agreements and

derivative financial instruments (futures, forwards, swaps and

options). For a discussion of the Group’s accounting policies for

derivative financial instruments, see Accounting policies.

2006 2005

Average Period end Maximum Minimum Average Period end Maximum Minimum
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Trading 

Interest rate 5.1 5.7 8.3 3.5 6.0 5.5 10.8 4.1

Credit spread 5.6 5.9 7.1 4.1 6.0 5.2 8.6 3.6

Currency 0.5 0.3 1.6 — 0.4 0.4 0.8 —

Equity and commodity 0.6 0.8 4.2 — 0.2 0.3 1.3 —

Diversification (5.4) (3.5)

Total trading VaR 6.8 7.3 9.0 4.9 8.1 7.9 12.3 5.5

The VaR for NatWest Group’s trading portfolios segregated by type of market risk exposure, including idiosyncratic risk, is presented

in the table below.

Non-trading

The principal market risks arising from the Group’s non-trading

activities are interest rate risk, currency risk and equity risk.

Treasury activity and mismatches between the repricing of

assets and liabilities in its retail and commercial banking

operations account for most of the non-trading interest rate

risk. Non-trading currency risk derives from the Group’s

investments in overseas subsidiaries, associates and branches.

The Group’s venture capital portfolio and investments held by

its general insurance business are the principal sources of

non-trading equity price risk. The Group’s portfolios of non-

trading financial instruments mainly comprise loans (including

finance leases), debt securities, equity shares, deposits,

certificates of deposits and other debt securities issued, loan

capital and derivatives. To reflect their distinct nature, the

Group’s long-term assurance assets and liabilities attributable

to policyholders have been excluded from these market risk

disclosures.

� Interest rate risk

Non-trading interest rate risk arises from the Group’s treasury

activities and retail and commercial banking businesses.

Treasury

The Group’s treasury activities include its money market

business and the management of internal funds flow within the

Group’s businesses. Money market portfolios include cash

instruments (principally debt securities, loans and deposits)

and related hedging derivatives.

Retail and commercial banking 

Non-trading interest rate risk is calculated in each business on

the basis of establishing the repricing behaviour of each asset,

liability and off-balance sheet product. For many products, the

actual interest rate repricing characteristics differ from the

contractual repricing. In most cases, the repricing maturity is

determined by the market interest rate that most closely fits the

historical behaviour of the product interest rate. For non-interest

bearing current accounts, the repricing maturity is determined

by the stability of the portfolio. The repricing maturities used

are approved by Group Treasury and divisional asset and

liability committees at least annually. Key conventions are

reviewed annually by GALCO.

A static maturity gap report is produced as at the month-end

for each division, in each functional currency based on the

behaviouralised repricing for each product. It is Group policy

to include in the gap report, non-financial assets and liabilities,

mainly property, plant and equipment and the Group’s capital

and reserves, spread over medium and longer term maturities.

This report also includes hedge transactions, principally derivatives.

Any residual non-trading interest rate exposures are controlled

by limiting repricing mismatches in the individual balance

sheets. Potential exposures to interest rate movements in the

medium to long term are measured and controlled using a

version of the same VaR methodology that is used for the

Group’s trading portfolios but without discount factors. Net

accrual income exposures are measured and controlled in

terms of sensitivity over time to movements in interest rates.

Risk is managed within limits approved by GALCO through the

execution of cash and derivative instruments. Execution of the

hedging is carried out by the relevant division through the

Group’s treasury function. The residual risk position is reported

to divisional asset and liability committees, GALCO and Board.
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The table below sets out NatWest Group’s structural foreign currency exposures.

2006 2005

Foreign Foreign
currency Structural currency Structural

Net investments borrowings foreign Net investments borrowings foreign
in foreign hedging net currency in foreign hedging net currency

operations investments exposures operations investments exposures
£m £m £m £m £m £m 

US dollar 3,022 2,936 86 3,022 2,806 216

Euro 2,622 455 2,167 1,934 284 1,650

Swiss franc 462 457 5 431 430 1

Other non-sterling 6 4 2 4 4 —

6,112 3,852 2,260 5,391 3,524 1,867

The structural foreign currency exposure in euros is principally due to Ulster Bank running an open structural foreign exchange

position to minimise the sensitivity of its capital ratios to possible movements in the Euro exchange rate against Sterling.

� Currency risk

The Group does not maintain material non-trading open

currency positions other than the structural foreign currency

translation exposures arising from its investments in foreign

subsidiaries and associated undertakings and their related

currency funding. The Group’s policy in relation to structural

positions is to match fund the structural foreign currency

exposure arising from net asset value, including goodwill,

in foreign subsidiaries, equity accounted investments and

branches, except where doing so would materially increase the

sensitivity of either the Group’s or the subsidiary’s regulatory

capital ratios to currency movements. The policy requires

structural foreign exchange positions to be reviewed regularly

by GALCO. Foreign exchange differences arising on the

translation of foreign operations are recognised directly in

equity together with the effective portion of foreign exchange

differences arising on hedging liabilities.
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33 Financial instruments

Remaining maturity Group

1 month 1-3 3-12 1-5 Over 5 Equity
or less months months years years shares Total

2006 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Assets

Cash and balances at central banks 1,525 — — — — — 1,525

Treasury and other eligible bills 9 23 243 — — — 275

Loans and advances to banks 50,507 4,033 5,740 482 801 — 61,563

Loans and advances to customers 83,520 11,594 18,279 18,669 50,349 — 182,411

Debt securities 376 645 817 10,875 19,555 — 32,268

Equity shares — — — — — 1,158 1,158

Settlement balances 3,574 — — — — — 3,574

Derivatives 469 204 438 832 803 — 2,746

Liabilities

Deposits by banks 38,159 3,715 2,434 998 952 — 46,258

Customer accounts 166,793 8,601 2,464 3,070 291 — 181,219

Debt securities in issue 4,525 1,765 1,960 3,147 2,938 — 14,335

Settlement balances and short positions 3,069 101 808 13,688 6,608 — 24,274

Derivatives 487 251 431 596 578 — 2,343

Subordinated liabilities — — 1,891 2,208 1,542 — 5,641

2005

Assets

Cash and balances at central banks 1,568 — — — — — 1,568

Treasury and other eligible bills 23 39 708 — — — 770

Loans and advances to banks 47,521 6,001 1,400 780 293 — 55,995

Loans and advances to customers 73,218 12,591 17,165 21,447 35,522 — 159,943

Debt securities 399 179 1,323 6,894 19,950 — 28,745

Equity shares — — — — — 823 823

Settlement balances 3,931 — — — — — 3,931

Derivatives 213 210 368 875 1,310 — 2,976

Liabilities

Deposits by banks 29,351 5,147 7,915 2,784 804 — 46,001

Customer accounts 141,464 10,170 2,795 3,110 385 — 157,924

Debt securities in issue 3,040 2,277 4,949 141 394 — 10,801

Settlement balances and short positions 3,061 223 705 15,079 2,506 — 21,574

Derivatives 251 192 289 652 1,273 — 2,657

Subordinated liabilities 326 6 1,811 2,417 2,088 — 6,648
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33 Financial instruments (continued)

Remaining maturity
Bank

1 month 1-3 3-12 1-5 Over 5 Equity
or less months months years years shares Total

2006 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Assets

Cash and balances at central banks 876 — — — — — 876

Loans and advances to banks 21,406 159 2,877 57 507 — 25,006

Loans and advances to customers 60,673 7,008 8,970 10,388 22,457 — 109,496

Debt securities 42 — — — — — 42

Equity shares — — — — — 50 50

Derivatives 76 87 279 345 613 — 1,400

Liabilities

Deposits by banks 5,146 440 110 398 344 — 6,438

Customer accounts 115,064 5,861 1,266 2,416 488 — 125,095

Debt securities in issue — — 20 9 — — 29

Derivatives 69 93 260 213 510 — 1,145

Subordinated liabilities — — 1,410 1,959 1,214 — 4,583

2005

Assets

Cash and balances at central banks 894 — — — — — 894

Loans and advances to banks 18,112 1,733 754 190 40 — 20,829

Loans and advances to customers 52,290 6,921 9,680 13,530 15,148 — 97,569

Debt securities 8 11 17 12 3 — 51

Derivatives 43 61 128 424 547 — 1,203

Liabilities

Deposits by banks 3,413 808 604 261 224 — 5,310

Customer accounts 98,683 7,005 1,755 1,923 576 — 109,942

Debt securities in issue — — 5 33 — — 38

Derivatives 42 55 117 208 707 — 1,129

Subordinated liabilities 326 6 1,225 2,395 1,549 — 5,501
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Interest rate sensitivity

The following tables summarise the interest rate sensitivity gap 

for the Group and the Bank at 31 December 2006 and at 

31 December 2005. The tables show the contractual repricing

for each category of asset, liability and off-balance sheet items

in the banking book. A liability (or negative) gap position exists

when liabilities reprice more quickly or in greater proportion

than assets during a given period and tends to benefit net

interest income in a declining interest rate environment. An

asset (or positive) gap position exists when assets reprice

more quickly or in greater proportion than liabilities during a

given period and tends to benefit net interest income in a rising

interest rate environment. The actual interest rate sensitivity of

The Group’s earnings will be determined by the currency and

contractual or behavioural profile of assets and liabilities, in

addition to the size and timings of interest rates movements.

Contractual repricing terms do not reflect the potential impact

of early repayment or withdrawal. Positions may not be

reflective of those in subsequent periods. Major changes in

positions can be made promptly as market outlooks change. In

addition, significant variations in interest rate sensitivity may

exist within the re-pricing periods presented and among the

currencies in which the Group has interest rate positions.

Group

After 3 After 6 After 1
months months year Total Non Fair value
but less but less but less interest interest through

3 months  than than than Over 5 earning/ earning/ profit Banking Trading
or less 6 months 1 year 5 years years bearing Yield bearing or loss book book Total

2006 £m £m £m £m £m £m % £m £m £m £m £m

Assets

Loans and advances to banks 38,321 2,820 731 532 253 42,657 4.17 5,854 654 49,165 12,398 61,563

Loans and advances

to customers 125,279 2,584 2,478 8,239 5,124 143,704 4.85 8,870 516 153,090 29,321 182,411

Debt securities and 

treasury bills 1,491 126 182 312 27 2,138 3.98 1 1,649 3,788 28,755 32,543

Other assets 1,236 — — — — 1,236 — 5,502 35 6,773 7,371 14,144

Total assets 166,327 5,530 3,391 9,083 5,404 189,735 4.65 20,227 2,854 212,816 77,845 290,661

Liabilities and equity

Deposits by banks 11,653 4,272 910 594 616 18,045 3.86 3,558 — 21,603 24,655 46,258

Customer accounts 132,273 1,907 1,257 3,589 346 139,372 2.95 19,529 1,448 160,349 20,870 181,219

Debt securities in issue 10,880 753 340 44 360 12,377 3.15 6 — 12,383 1,952 14,335

Subordinated liabilities 1,719 — 263 1,539 1,778 5,299 5.33 — — 5,299 342 5,641

Other liabilities — — — — — — — 6,600 — 6,600 26,435 33,035

Shareholders’ equity — — — — — — — 8,437 — 8,437 1,736 10,173

Internal funding of trading business (2,068) — — — — (2,068) 5.27 213 — (1,855) 1,855 —

Total liabilities and equity 154,457 6,932 2,770 5,766 3,100 173,025 3.18 38,343 1,448 212,816 77,845 290,661

Interest rate swaps 5,006 255 62 (3,154) (2,169) — — —

Interest rate sensitivity gap 16,876 (1,147) 683 163 135 16,710 (18,116) 1,406

Cumulative interest rate 

sensitivity gap 16,876 15,729 16,412 16,575 16,710 16,710 (1,406) —

2005

Assets

Loans and advances to banks 38,052 580 884 521 25 40,062 2.19 2,467 825 43,354 12,641 55,995

Loans and advances

to customers 99,057 2,624 2,492 12,027 4,650 120,850 4.26 16,253 — 137,103 22,840 159,943

Debt securities and 

treasury bills 2,290 155 152 238 82 2,917 3.39 — 403 3,320 26,195 29,515

Other assets — — — — — — 8,421 39 8,460 6,690 15,150

Total assets 139,399 3,359 3,528 12,786 4,757 163,829 3.74 27,141 1,267 192,237 68,366 260,603

Liabilities and equity

Deposits by banks 18,486 4,007 1,517 2,470 517 26,997 1.60 2,040 — 29,037 16,964 46,001

Customer accounts 113,329 1,153 1,369 1,588 367 117,806 2.09 18,012 1,339 137,157 20,767 157,924

Debt securities in issue 4,090 2,221 1,025 140 394 7,870 1.77 6 — 7,876 2,925 10,801

Subordinated liabilities 2,146 — — 2,535 1,614 6,295 5.83 — — 6,295 353 6,648

Other liabilities — — — — — — 5,202 — 5,202 24,587 29,789

Shareholders’ equity — — — — — — 7,825 — 7,825 1,615 9,440

Internal funding of trading business (1,268) — — — — (1,268) 3.71 113 — (1,155) 1,155 —

Total liabilities and equity 136,783 7,381 3,911 6,733 2,892 157,700 2.12 33,198 1,339 192,237 68,366 260,603

Interest rate swaps (1,231) 147 194 264 626 — — —

Interest rate sensitivity gap 1,385 (3,875) (189) 6,317 2,491 6,129 (6,057) (72)

Cumulative interest rate 

sensitivity gap 1,385 (2,490) (2,679) 3,638 6,129 6,129 72 —
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33 Financial instruments (continued)

Interest rate sensitivity

Bank

After 3 After 6 After 1
months months year Total Non Fair value
but less but less but less interest interest through

3 months  than than than Over 5 earning earning profit Banking Trading
or less 6 months 1 year 5 years years /bearing Yield /bearing or loss book book Total

2006 £m £m £m £m £m £m % £m £m £m £m £m

Assets

Loans and advances to banks 18,854 740 74 86 287 20,041 5.75 4,965 — 25,006 — 25,006

Loans and advances

to customers 88,538 1,504 1,236 4,927 3,481 99,686 4.38 9,721 — 109,407 89 109,496

Debt securities and 

treasury bills 25 6 4 6 1 42 2.86 — — 42 — 42

Other assets 762 — — — — 762 — 9,857 — 10,619 538 11,157

Total assets 108,179 2,250 1,314 5,019 3,769 120,531 4.58 24,543 — 145,074 627 145,701

Liabilities and equity

Deposits by banks 1,401 3,428 214 149 — 5,192 5.30 1,139 — 6,331 107 6,438

Customer accounts 99,661 1,311 589 2,257 406 104,224 2.58 20,755 116 125,095 — 125,095

Debt securities in issue — 18 2 9 — 29 3.45 — — 29 — 29

Subordinated liabilities 1,423 — 263 1,439 1,458 4,583 5.30 — — 4,583 — 4,583

Other liabilities — — — — — — — 3,053 — 3,053 433 3,486

Shareholders’ equity — — — — — — — 6,070 — 6,070 — 6,070

Internal funding of trading business (295) — — — — (295) 4.75 208 — (87) 87 —

Total liabilities and equity 102,190 4,757 1,068 3,854 1,864 113,733 2.81 31,225 116 145,074 627 145,701

Interest rate swaps 3,954 168 139 (3,126) (1,135) — — —

Interest rate sensitivity gap 9,943 (2,339) 385 (1,961) 770 6,798 (6,682) (116)

Cumulative interest rate 

sensitivity gap 9,943 7,604 7,989 6,028 6,798 6,798 116 —

2005

Assets

Loans and advances to banks 17,593 102 628 191 — 18,514 4.17 2,302 — 20,816 13 20,829

Loans and advances

to customers 67,487 1,320 1,163 9,078 2,866 81,914 4.43 15,624 — 97,538 31 97,569

Debt securities and 

treasury bills 19 14 3 9 6 51 5.88 — — 51 — 51

Other assets — — — — — — 11,163 — 11,163 522 11,685

Total assets 85,099 1,436 1,794 9,278 2,872 100,479 4.38 29,089 — 129,568 566 130,134

Liabilities and equity

Deposits by banks 3,534 282 164 249 — 4,229 2.22 1,081 — 5,310 — 5,310

Customer accounts 88,425 517 1,064 399 132 90,537 2.09 19,285 63 109,885 57 109,942

Debt securities in issue — — 5 33 — 38 2.63 — — 38 — 38

Subordinated liabilities 1,501 — — 2,535 1,465 5,501 6.45 — — 5,501 — 5,501

Other liabilities — — — — — — 3,390 — 3,390 244 3,634

Shareholders’ equity — — — — — — 5,710 — 5,710 (1) 5,709

Internal funding of trading business (312) — — — — (312) 0.32 46 — (266) 266 —

Total liabilities and equity 93,148 799 1,233 3,216 1,597 99,993 2.33 29,512 63 129,568 566 130,134

Interest rate swaps (1,231) 147 194 264 626 — — —

Interest rate sensitivity gap (9,280) 784 755 6,326 1,901 486 (423) (63)

Cumulative interest rate 

sensitivity gap (9,280) (8,496) (7,741) (1,415) 486 486 63 —
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Trading book

The tables below set out by time band the net effect on the Group’s and Bank’s profit or loss of a basis point (0.01%) increase in

interest rates, assuming all trading positions remain unchanged.
Group

After 3 After 6 After 1
months but months but year but

3 months less than less than less than Over 5
or less 6 months 1 year 5 years years Total

2006 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

(Loss)/gain per basis point increase (172) (106) (115) (567) 566 (394)

2005

Gain/(loss) per basis point increase 51 (14) 471 (959) 499 48

Bank

After 3 After 6 After 1
months but months but year but

3 months less than less than less than Over 5
or less 6 months 1 year 5 years years Total

2006 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

(Loss)/gain per basis point increase (39) (35) (83) (42) 25 (174)

2005

Gain/(loss) per basis point increase 4 (61) 16 106 (13) 52

Financial assets and liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss

Group Bank

2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m

Net gain in year recognised in other operating income 116 26 — —
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33 Financial instruments (continued)

The following table shows the carrying values and the fair values of financial instruments on the balance sheet.

Group Bank

2006 2006 2005 2005 2006 2006 2005 2005
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

value value value value value value value value
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Financial assets

Cash and balances at central banks 1,525 1,525 1,568 1,568 876 876 894 894

Treasury and other eligible bills

Held-for-trading 225 225 724 724 — — — —

Available-for-sale 50 50 46 46 — — — —

275 275 770 770 — — — —

Loans and advances to banks

Held-for-trading 11,884 11,884 17,411 17,411 147 147 110 110

Designated as at fair value through profit or loss 654 654 825 825 — — — —

Loans and receivables 49,025 49,022 37,759 37,761 24,859 24,859 20,719 20,719

61,563 61,560 55,995 55,997 25,006 25,006 20,829 20,829

Loans and advances to customers

Held-for-trading 21,935 21,935 15,897 15,897 1,056 1,056 30 30

Designated as at fair value through profit or loss 516 516 — — — — — —

Loans and receivables 159,516 159,447 143,235 143,816 108,440 108,321 97,539 98,006

Finance leases 444 477 811 811 — — — —

182,411 182,375 159,943 160,524 109,496 109,377 97,569 98,036

Debt securities

Held-for-trading 28,531 28,531 25,474 25,474 1 1 3 3

Designated as at fair value through profit or loss 1,649 1,649 403 403 — — — —

Available-for-sale 2,088 2,088 2,868 2,868 41 41 48 48

32,268 32,268 28,745 28,745 42 42 51 51

Equity shares

Held-for-trading 42 42 26 26 — — — —

Designated as at fair value through profit or loss 36 36 39 39 — — — —

Available-for-sale 1,080 1,080 758 758 50 50 — —

1,158 1,158 823 823 50 50 — —

Settlement balances 3,574 3,574 3,931 3,931 — — — —

Derivatives 2,746 2,746 2,976 2,976 1,400 1,400 1,203 1,203
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Group Bank

2006 2006 2005 2005 2006 2006 2005 2005
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

value value value value value value value value
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Financial liabilities

Deposits by banks 

Held-for-trading 6,770 6,770 6,589 6,589 328 328 1,237 1,237

Amortised cost 39,488 39,487 39,412 39,417 6,110 6,110 4,073 4,073

46,258 46,257 46,001 46,006 6,438 6,438 5,310 5,310

Customer accounts

Held-for-trading 8,665 8,665 10,372 10,372 196 196 1,560 1,560

Designated as at fair value through profit or loss 1,448 1,448 1,339 1,339 116 116 63 63

Amortised cost 171,106 171,099 146,213 147,313 124,783 124,781 108,319 108,541

181,219 181,212 157,924 159,024 125,095 125,093 109,942 110,164

Debt securities in issue

Amortised cost 14,335 14,390 10,801 10,872 29 29 38 38

Subordinated liabilities

Amortised cost 5,641 6,061 6,648 6,773 4,583 4,940 5,501 5,626

Settlement balances and short positions 24,274 24,274 21,574 21,574 — — — —

Derivatives 2,343 2,343 2,657 2,657 1,145 1,145 1,129 1,129
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33 Financial instruments (continued)

Industry risk – geographical analysis

Group

Treasury bills,
Loans and advances debt securities and Netting

to banks and customers equity shares Derivatives Other(1) Total offset(2)

2006 £m £m £m £m £m £m 

UK

Central and local government 2,130 1,428 4 — 3,562 1,050

Manufacturing 6,635 1 74 — 6,710 3,174

Construction 5,083 1 34 — 5,118 766

Finance 84,028 1,748 979 — 86,755 421

Service industry and business activities 24,150 22 241 — 24,413 3,707

Agriculture, forestry and fishing 2,004 1 1 — 2,006 34

Property 19,966 18 64 — 20,048 744

Individuals

Home mortgages 3,449 — — — 3,449 —

Other 16,172 — — — 16,172 6

Finance leases and instalment credit 308 — — — 308 —

Interest accruals 402 — — — 402 —

Total UK 164,327 3,219 1,397 — 168,943 9,902

US

Central and local government — 8,641 — 102 8,743 —

Manufacturing — 248 — — 248 —

Construction — 48 — — 48 —

Finance 32,237 19,158 468 3,462 55,325 1,265

Service industry and business activities 21 643 1 — 665 —

Property 2,647 — — — 2,647 —

Individuals

Home mortgages 6,708 — — — 6,708 —

Other 3 — — — 3 —

Interest accruals 128 230 — — 358 2

Total US 41,744 28,968 469 3,564 74,745 1,267

Europe

Central and local government 263 310 — — 573 —

Manufacturing 1,005 — — — 1,005 —

Construction 2,291 — — — 2,291 —

Finance 5,045 1,202 865 17 7,129 4

Service industry and business activities 4,795 1 10 8 4,814 —

Agriculture, forestry and fishing 469 2 — — 471 —

Property 6,053 — — — 6,053 —

Individuals

Home mortgages 13,597 — — — 13,597 —

Other 3,567 — — — 3,567 —

Finance leases and instalment credit 38 — — — 38 —

Interest accruals 144 — — — 144 —

Total Europe 37,267 1,515 875 25 39,682 4

Rest of the World

Central and local government — 1 — — 1 —

Finance 1,823 — — — 1,823 —

Service industry and business activities — — 5 3 8 —

Individuals

Home mortgages 90 — — — 90 —

Other 781 — — — 781 —

Interest accruals 3 — — — 3 —

Total Rest of the World 2,697 1 5 3 2,706 —
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Industry risk – geographical analysis

Group

Treasury bills,
Loans and advances debt securities and Netting

to banks and customers equity shares Derivatives Other (1) Total offset(2)

2006 £m £m £m £m £m £m

Total

Central and local government 2,393 10,380 4 102 12,879 1,050

Manufacturing 7,640 249 74 — 7,963 3,174

Construction 7,374 49 34 — 7,457 766

Finance 123,133 22,108 2,312 3,479 151,032 1,690

Service industry and business activities 28,966 666 257 11 29,900 3,707

Agriculture, forestry and fishing 2,473 3 1 — 2,477 34

Property 28,666 18 64 — 28,748 744

Individuals

Home mortgages 23,844 — — — 23,844 —

Other 20,523 — — — 20,523 6

Finance leases and instalment credit 346 — — — 346 —

Interest accruals 677 230 — — 907 2

246,035 33,703 2,746 3,592 286,076 11,173

Notes:

(1) Includes settlement balances of £3,574 million.

(2) This column shows the amount by which exposures to counterparties are reduced by the existence of a legal right of set off (on the basis that the financial asset will be

collected in accordance with its terms) and under master netting arrangements. The credit risk of financial assets subject to a master netting arrangement is eliminated only 

to the extent that financial liabilities due to the same counterparty will be settled after the assets are realised. The extent to which the Group’s credit risk is reduced through 

a master netting arrangement may change substantially within a short period following the balance sheet date because the exposure is affected by each transaction subject to

the arrangement.
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33 Financial instruments (continued)

Industry risk – geographical analysis
Group

Treasury bills,
Loans and advances debt securities and Settlement Netting

to banks and customers equity shares Derivatives balances Total offset(1)

2005 £m £m £m £m £m £m

UK

Central and local government 1,690 4 7 — 1,701 1,137

Manufacturing 6,887 1 78 — 6,966 2,249

Construction 4,479 — 28 — 4,507 842

Finance 74,742 1,671 1,428 — 77,841 241

Service industry and business activities 24,031 135 249 — 24,415 3,628

Agriculture, forestry and fishing 1,884 — 2 — 1,886 12

Property 15,316 10 96 — 15,422 986

Individuals

Home mortgages 2,746 — 1 — 2,747 —

Other 15,283 — — — 15,283 2

Finance leases and instalment credit 319 — — — 319 49

Interest accruals 208 — — — 208 —

Total UK 147,585 1,821 1,889 — 151,295 9,146

US

Central and local government — 7,599 — 112 7,711 —

Manufacturing 44 84 — — 128 —

Construction 5 27 — — 32 —

Finance 28,258 18,121 609 3,809 50,797 4,323

Service industry and business activities 484 302 — — 786 —

Agriculture, forestry and fishing 13 — — — 13 —

Property 2,252 — — — 2,252 —

Individuals

Home mortgages 5,107 — — — 5,107 —

Other 9 — — — 9 —

Finance leases and instalment credit 439 — — — 439 —

Interest accruals 79 160 — — 239 2

Total US 36,690 26,293 609 3,921 67,513 4,325

Europe

Central and local government 287 234 — — 521 —

Manufacturing 3,060 — — — 3,060 —

Construction 2,257 — — — 2,257 —

Finance 6,776 1,802 450 8 9,036 —

Service industry and business activities 4,758 10 11 — 4,779 —

Agriculture, forestry and fishing 513 — — — 513 —

Property 2,576 49 — — 2,625 —

Individuals

Home mortgages 8,802 — — — 8,802 —

Other 3,412 105 — — 3,517 —

Finance leases and instalment credit 96 — — — 96 —

Interest accruals 110 26 — — 136 —

Total Europe 32,647 2,226 461 8 35,342 —

Rest of the World

Central and local government — 2 — — 2 —

Finance 169 — 3 2 174 —

Service industry and business activities — — 14 — 14 —

Property 2 — — — 2 —

Individuals

Home mortgages 75 — — — 75 —

Other 792 — — — 792 —

Interest accruals 9 — — — 9 —

Total Rest of the World 1,047 2 17 2 1,068 —
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Group

Treasury bills,
Loans and advances debt securities and Settlement Netting

to banks and customers equity shares Derivatives balances Total offset(1)

2005 £m £m £m £m £m £m

Total

Central and local government 1,977 7,839 7 112 9,935 1,137

Manufacturing 9,991 85 78 — 10,154 2,249

Construction 6,741 27 28 — 6,796 842

Finance 109,945 21,594 2,490 3,819 137,848 4,564

Service industry and business activities 29,273 447 274 — 29,994 3,628

Agriculture, forestry and fishing 2,410 — 2 — 2,412 12

Property 20,146 59 96 — 20,301 986

Individuals

Home mortgages 16,730 — 1 — 16,731 —

Other 19,496 105 — — 19,601 2

Finance leases and instalment credit 854 — — — 854 49

Interest accruals 406 186 — — 592 2

217,969 30,342 2,976 3,931 255,218 13,471

Note:

(1) This column shows the amount by which exposures to counterparties are reduced by the existence of a legal right of set off (on the basis that the financial asset will be

collected in accordance with its terms) and under master netting arrangements. The credit risk of financial assets subject to a master netting arrangement is eliminated only 

to the extent that financial liabilities due to the same counterparty will be settled after the assets are realised. The extent to which the Group’s credit risk is reduced through a

master netting arrangement may change substantially within a short period following the balance sheet date because the exposure is affected by each transaction subject to

the arrangement.
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33 Financial instruments (continued)

Industry risk – geographical analysis (continued)
Bank

Treasury bills,
Loans and advances debt securities and Netting

to banks and customers equity shares Derivatives Total offset (1)

2006 £m £m £m £m £m

UK

Central and local government 2,126 — 4 2,130 1,050

Manufacturing 6,391 — 74 6,465 3,174

Construction 4,225 — 34 4,259 766

Finance 66,045 91 981 67,117 399

Service industry and business activities 23,080 — 242 23,322 3,707

Agriculture, forestry and fishing 1,736 — 1 1,737 34

Property 17,329 — 64 17,393 744

Individuals

Home mortgages 35 — — 35 —

Other 14,000 — — 14,000 6

Interest accruals 334 — — 334 —

Total UK 135,301 91 1,400 136,792 9,880

US

Finance 2 — — 2 —

Service industry and business activities — 1 — 1 —

Total US 2 1 — 3 —

Europe

Finance 906 — — 906 —

Total Europe 906 — — 906 —

Total

Central and local government 2,126 — 4 2,130 1,050

Manufacturing 6,391 — 74 6,465 3,174

Construction 4,225 — 34 4,259 766

Finance 66,953 91 981 68,025 399

Service industry and business activities 23,080 1 242 23,323 3,707

Agriculture, forestry and fishing 1,736 — 1 1,737 34

Property 17,329 — 64 17,393 744

Individuals

Home mortgages 35 — — 35 —

Other 14,000 — — 14,000 6

Interest accruals 334 — — 334 —

136,209 92 1,400 137,701 9,880

Note:

(1) This column shows the amount by which exposures to counterparties are reduced by the existence of a legal right of set off (on the basis that the financial asset will be

collected in accordance with its terms) and under master netting arrangements. The credit risk of financial assets subject to a master netting arrangement is eliminated 

only to the extent that financial liabilities due to the same counterparty will be settled after the assets are realised. The extent to which the Group’s credit risk is reduced 

through a master netting arrangement may change substantially within a short period following the balance sheet date because the exposure is affected by each 

transaction subject to the arrangement.
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Bank

Treasury bills,
Loans and advances debt securities and Netting

to banks and customers equity shares Derivatives Total offset(1)

2005 £m £m £m £m £m

UK

Central and local government 1,689 — 7 1,696 1,137

Manufacturing 6,737 — 78 6,815 2,249

Construction 4,108 — 28 4,136 842

Finance 53,440 48 742 54,230 219

Service industry and business activities 23,140 — 249 23,389 3,626

Agriculture, forestry and fishing 1,700 — 2 1,702 12

Property 14,397 — 96 14,493 981

Individuals

Home mortgages 40 — 1 41 —

Other 13,434 — — 13,434 2

Interest accruals 172 — — 172 —

Total UK 118,857 48 1,203 120,108 9,068

US

Finance 54 — — 54 —

Service industry and business activities — 3 — 3 —

Interest accruals 21 — — 21 —

Total US 75 3 — 78 —

Europe

Finance 1,133 — — 1,133 —

Interest accruals 6 — — 6 —

Total Europe 1,139 — — 1,139 —

Total

Central and local government 1,689 — 7 1,696 1,137

Manufacturing 6,737 — 78 6,815 2,249

Construction 4,108 — 28 4,136 842

Finance 54,627 48 742 55,417 219

Service industry and business activities 23,140 3 249 23,392 3,626

Agriculture, forestry and fishing 1,700 — 2 1,702 12

Property 14,397 — 96 14,493 981

Individuals

Home mortgages 40 — 1 41 —

Other 13,434 — — 13,434 2

Interest accruals 199 — — 199 —

120,071 51 1,203 121,325 9,068

Note:

(1) This column shows the amount by which exposures to counterparties are reduced by the existence of a legal right of set off (on the basis that the financial asset will be

collected in accordance with its terms) and under master netting arrangements. The credit risk of financial assets subject to a master netting arrangement is eliminated only 

to the extent that financial liabilities due to the same counterparty will be settled after the assets are realised. The extent to which the Group’s credit risk is reduced through a

master netting arrangement may change substantially within a short period following the balance sheet date because the exposure is affected by each transaction subject to 

the arrangement.
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34 Memorandum items

Contingent liabilities and commitments

The amounts shown in the table below are intended only to provide an indication of the volume of business outstanding at 

31 December. Although the Group is exposed to credit risk in the event of non-performance of the obligations undertaken by

customers, the amounts shown do not, and are not intended to, provide any indication of the Group’s expectation of future losses.

Group Bank

2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m

Contingent liabilities:

Guarantees and assets pledged as collateral security 2,272 2,768 1,895 2,295

Other contingent liabilities 2,889 2,967 2,173 2,248

5,161 5,735 4,068 4,543

Commitments:

Undrawn formal standby facilities, credit lines and other commitments to lend

– less than one year 57,669 55,973 41,144 38,604

– one year and over 16,307 11,543 15,154 10,509

Other commitments 181 182 100 100

74,157 67,698 56,398 49,213
Note:

In the normal course of business, the Bank guarantees specified third party liabilities of certain subsidiaries; it also gives undertakings that individual subsidiaries will fulfil their

obligations to third parties under contractual or other arrangements.

Banking commitments and contingent obligations, which have

been entered into on behalf of customers and for which there

are corresponding obligations from customers, are not included

in assets and liabilities. The Group’s maximum exposure to

credit loss, in the event of non-performance by the other party

and where all counterclaims, collateral or security proves

valueless, is represented by the contractual nominal amount 

of these instruments included in the table above. These

commitments and contingent obligations are subject to the

Group’s normal credit approval processes and any potential loss

is taken into account in assessing provisions for bad and doubtful

debts in accordance with the Group’s provisioning policy.

Contingent liabilities

Guarantees – the Group gives guarantees on behalf of

customers. A financial guarantee represents an irrevocable

undertaking that the Group will meet a customer’s obligations

to third parties if the customer fails to do so. The maximum

amount that the Group could be required to pay under a

guarantee is its principal amount as disclosed in the table above.

The Group expects most guarantees it provides to expire unused.

Other contingent liabilities – these include standby letters of

credit, supporting customer debt issues and contingent

liabilities relating to customer trading activities such as those

arising from performance and customs bonds, warranties,

indemnities and acceptances.

Commitments

Commitments to lend – under a loan commitment the Group

agrees to make funds available to a customer in the future.

Loan commitments, which are usually for a specified term may

be unconditionally cancellable or may persist, provided all

conditions in the loan facility are satisfied or waived.

Commitments to lend include commercial standby facilities and

credit lines, liquidity facilities to commercial paper conduits

and unutilised overdraft facilities.

Other commitments – these include forward asset purchases,

forward deposits placed and undrawn note issuance and

revolving underwriting facilities, documentary credits and other

short-term trade related transactions.

Regulatory enquiries and investigations – in the normal course

of business the Group and its subsidiaries co-operate with

regulatory authorities in various jurisdictions in their enquiries or

investigations into alleged or possible breaches of regulations.

Additional contingent liabilities arise in the normal course of

the Group’s business. It is not anticipated that any material loss

will arise from these transactions.

Litigation

Proceedings, including a consolidated class action, have been

brought in the United States against a large number of

defendants, including the Group, following the collapse of Enron.

The claims against the Group could be significant but are largely

unquantified. The Group considers that it has substantial and

credible legal and factual defences to these claims and it

continues to defend them vigorously. A court ordered mediation

commenced in September 2003 but no material progress has

been made towards a resolution of the claims, although a

number of other defendants have reached settlements in the

principal class action. The Group is unable reliably to estimate

the possible loss in relation to these matters or the effect that the

possible loss might have on the Group’s consolidated net assets

or its operating results or cash flows in any particular period. In

addition, pursuant to requests received from the US Securities

and Exchange Commission and the Department of Justice, the

Group has provided copies of Enron-related materials to these

authorities and has co-operated fully with them.

Members of the Group are engaged in other litigation in the

United Kingdom and a number of overseas jurisdictions, including

the United States, involving claims by and against them arising

in the ordinary course of business. The Group has reviewed

these other actual, threatened and known potential claims and

proceedings and, after consulting with its legal advisers, is

satisfied that the outcome of these other claims and proceedings

will not have a material adverse effect on its consolidated net

assets, operating results or cash flows in any particular period.

Trustee and other fiduciary activities

In its capacity as trustee or other fiduciary role, the Group 

may hold or place assets on behalf of individuals, trusts,

companies, pension schemes and others. The assets and their

income are not included in the Group’s financial statements.
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35 Net cash flows from operating activities
Group Bank

2006 2005* 2006 2005*
£m £m £m £m

Operating profit before tax 3,456 3,411 1,963 2,315

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments and accrued income (17) 988 30 557

Interest on subordinated liabilities 310 304 271 283

Increase/(decrease) in accruals and deferred income 37 (1,278) (28) (846)

Provisions for impairment losses 852 756 754 651

Loans and advances written-off net of recoveries (730) (762) (644) (715)

Unwind of discount on impairment losses (67) (76) (55) (61)

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (31) (51) (31) (39)

(Profit)/loss on sale of subsidiaries and associates (70) (12) 45 (221)

Profit on sale of investment securities (86) (327) (24) (320)

Charge for defined benefit pension schemes 229 149 168 97

Cash contribution to defined benefit pension schemes (135) (1,007) (70) (976)

Other provisions utilised (30) (18) (20) (16)

Depreciation and amortisation 257 382 202 326

Elimination of foreign exchange differences 1,503 (2,178) 143 189

Other non-cash items (147) (227) 1 (60)

Net cash inflow from trading activities 5,331 54 2,705 1,164

Increase in loans and advances to banks and customers (40,552) (24,532) (15,215) (4,182)

(Increase)/decrease in securities (4,316) (5,565) 2 1

Decrease/(increase) in other assets 1,303 (1,469) 707 (625)

Decrease/(increase) in derivative assets 230 797 (197) 335

Changes in operating assets (43,335) (30,769) (14,703) (4,471)

Increase in deposits by banks and customers 39,118 49,683 16,281 9,815

Increase/(decrease) in debt securities in issue 3,534 5,724 (9) (1)

Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities 646 1,138 (26) 953

(Decrease)/increase in derivative liabilities (314) (951) 16 (286)

Increase/(decrease) in settlement balances and short positions 3,057 (652) — —

Changes in operating liabilities 46,041 54,942 16,262 10,481

Total income taxes paid (1,157) (1,170) (588) (662)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 6,880 23,057 3,676 6,512

*restated (see Note 46).

36 Analysis of the net investment in business interests and intangible assets

Group Bank

2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m

Fair value given for business acquired (20) (238) (624) —

Additional investments in group undertakings — — (719) (217)

Cash and cash equivalents acquired — 25 — —

Non-cash consideration — 3 — —

Net outflow of cash in respect of purchases (20) (210) (1,343) (217)

Cash and cash equivalents in businesses sold — (2) — —

Other assets sold (41) 260 1 7

Repayment of investments — — 1,022 2

Non-cash consideration 112 (25) — —

Profit/(loss) on disposal 70 12 (45) 221

Net cash inflow on disposals 141 245 978 230

Dividends received from joint ventures 17 7 — —

Net cash expenditure on other intangible assets (230) (210) (159) (180)

Net outflow (92) (168) (524) (167)
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37 Interest received and paid
Group Bank

2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m

Interest received 9,952 8,475 6,601 5,621

Interest paid (5,527) (4,164) (3,405) (2,683)

4,425 4,311 3,196 2,938

38 Analysis of changes in financing during the year
Group Bank

Share capital Subordinated Share capital Subordinated
& share premium liabilities & share premium liabilities

2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 January 2,969 3,388 6,648 5,808 2,969 3,388 5,501 4,747

Implementation of IAS 32 on 1 January 2005 (419) 530 (419) 530

Net proceeds from issue of

subordinated liabilities 91 291 — —

Repayment of subordinated liabilities (719) (210) (590) (210)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing — — (628) 81 — — (590) (210)

Currency translation and other adjustments — — (379) 229 — — (328) 434

At 31 December 2,969 2,969 5,641 6,648 2,969 2,969 4,583 5,501

39 Analysis of cash and cash equivalents
Group Bank

2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m

At 1 January

– cash 33,273 14,816 13,952 9,952

– cash equivalents 15,151 8,029 4,636 1,959

Net cash inflow 3,036 25,579 939 6,677

At 31 December 51,460 48,424 19,527 18,588

Comprising:

Cash and balances at central banks 1,430 1,446 795 779

Treasury bills and debt securities 1 1 — —

Loans and advances to banks 50,029 46,977 18,732 17,809

Cash and cash equivalents 51,460 48,424 19,527 18,588

The Bank and certain subsidiary undertakings are required to maintain balances with the Central banks which, at 31 December 2006,

amounted to £95 million (2005 – £122 million).

40 Net cashflow on discontinued operations
Group

2005
£m

Net cashflow from operating activities 194

Net cashflow from financing activities (194)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January and 31 December —
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41 Segmental analysis

(a) Divisions

Group

Revenue Total Income

Depreciation Allocation of
Inter Inter Operating and Impairment Manufacturing

External segment Total External segment Total expenses amortisation losses Contribution costs
2006 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Global Banking & Markets 3,180 1,334 4,514 1,769 (63) 1,706 (649) (8) 24 1,073 (94) 979

UK Corporate Banking 2,222 — 2,222 1,805 (350) 1,455 (480) — (72) 903 (224) 679

Retail 6,120 4 6,124 4,493 (14) 4,479 (1,059) (9) (730) 2,681 (1,109) 1,572

Wealth Management 1,266 2 1,268 599 (6) 593 (318) (11) (1) 263 (51) 212

Ulster Bank 2,369 20 2,389 1,014 (10) 1,004 (294) (21) (71) 618 (214) 404

Manufacturing 26 5 31 (37) (21) (58) (1,472) (204) — (1,734) 1,734 —

Central items 479 570 1,049 (317) 464 147 (427) 7 (2) (275) (42) (317)

Eliminations — (1,935) (1,935) — — — — — — — — —

15,662 — 15,662 9,326 — 9,326 (4,699) (246) (852) 3,529 — 3,529

Amortisation of intangibles — — — — — — — (6) — (6) — (6)

Integration costs — — — — — — (62) (5) — (67) — (67)

15,662 — 15,662 9,326 — 9,326 (4,761) (257) (852) 3,456 — 3,456

Note:

(1) Revenue represents total income included in the income statement grossed-up for interest payable and commissions payable.

The directors manage the Group primarily by class of business

and present the segmental analysis on that basis. The Group’s

activities are organised as follows:

• Global Banking & Markets is a leading banking partner to

major corporations and financial institutions around the

world, providing a full range of debt financing, risk

management and investment services to its customers.

• UK Corporate Banking provides banking, finance and risk

management services to UK corporate customers. Through

its network of relationship managers across the country it

distributes the full range of Corporate Markets’ products and

services to companies.

• Retail comprises the NatWest retail brand, and a number of

direct providers offering a full range of banking products

and related financial services to the personal, premium and

small business markets across several distribution channels.

Retail also includes the Group’s non-branch based retail

business that issues a comprehensive range of credit and

charge cards to personal and corporate customers and

provides card processing services for retail businesses.

• Wealth Management provides private banking and

investment services to its global clients through Coutts

Group and NatWest Offshore.

• Ulster Bank Group brings together the Ulster Bank and 

First Active businesses. Retail Markets serves personal

customers through both brands and Corporate markets

caters for the banking needs of business and corporate

customers.

• Manufacturing supports the customer-facing businesses 

and provides operational technology, customer support 

in telephony, account management, lending and money

transmission, global purchasing, property and other

services.

Segments charge market prices for services rendered to other

parts of the Group with the exception of Manufacturing and

central items. The expenditure incurred by Manufacturing

relates to costs principally in respect of the Group’s banking

operations in the UK and Ireland. These costs reflect activities

that are shared between the various customer-facing divisions.

These shared costs and related assets and liabilities are not

allocated to divisions in the day-to-day management of the

businesses but for the first time in 2006, with comparatives

restated accordingly, they are allocated to customer-facing

divisions for financial reporting purposes on a basis the

directors consider to be reasonable. Funding charges between

segments are determined by Group Treasury, having regard to

commercial demands. The results of each division before

amortisation of purchased intangible assets, integration costs

and net gain on sale of strategic investments and subsidiaries,

and where appropriate, allocation of Manufacturing costs

(‘Contribution’) and after allocation of Manufacturing costs

(‘Operating profit before tax’) are shown below.

Operating
profit

before tax
£m
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41 Segmental analysis (continued)

Group

Revenue Total Income

Depreciation Allocation of Operating 
Inter Inter Operating and Impairment Manufacturing profit

External segment Total External segment Total expenses amortisation losses Contribution costs before tax
2005 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Global Banking & Markets 2,212 1,002 3,214 1,507 114 1,621 (467) (7) 27 1,174 (93) 1,081

UK Corporate Banking 1,923 1 1,924 1,617 (373) 1,244 (330) — (35) 879 (224) 655

Retail 5,954 1,301 7,255 4,225 (62) 4,163 (876) (7) (661) 2,619 (1,136) 1,483

Wealth Management 1,102 2 1,104 508 (1) 507 (276) (13) (6) 212 (54) 158

Ulster Bank 1,763 25 1,788 860 (2) 858 (246) (24) (58) 530 (207) 323

Manufacturing 45 6 51 26 (30) (4) (1,550) (57) — (1,611) 1,611 —

Central items 64 438 502 (646) 354 (292) (254) (137) (19) (702) 103 (599)

Eliminations — (2,775) (2,775) — — — — — — — — —

Continuing operations 13,063 — 13,063 8,097 — 8,097 (3,999) (245) (752) 3,101 — 3,101

Discontinued operations 246 — 246 221 — 221 (70) — (4) 147 — 147

Amortisation of

intangibles — — — — — — — (6) — (6) — (6)

Integration costs — — — — — — (32) (131) — (163) — (163)

Net gain on sale of

strategic investments

and subsidiaries 332 — 332 332 — 332 — — — 332 — 332

13,641 — 13,641 8,650 — 8,650 (4,101) (382) (756) 3,411 — 3,411

Notes:

(1) Global Banking & Markets and UK Corporate Banking were established on 1 January 2006. The figures for 2005 for Corporate Markets have now been allocated to those

segments.

(2) Revenue represents total income included in the income statement grossed-up for interest payable and commissions payable.

Group

Cost to
acquire fixed

assets and
Assets – Liabilities – intangible Cost to

before before assets – before acquire
allocation of Allocation of allocation of Allocation of allocation of Allocation of fixed assets

Manufacturing Manufacturing Manufacturing Manufacturing Manufacturing Manufacturing and intangible
assets assets Assets liabilities liabilities Liabilities assets assets assets

2006 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Global Banking & Markets 126,238 106 126,344 107,242 — 107,242 182 14 196

UK Corporate Banking 36,476 179 36,655 36,921 — 36,921 — 38 38

Retail  57,035 1,003 58,038 62,978 — 62,978 3 156 159

Wealth Management 21,741 86 21,827 20,795 — 20,795 13 17 30

Ulster Bank 45,112 117 45,229 41,806 — 41,806 166 21 187

Manufacturing 1,977 (1,977) — 329 (329) — 302 (302) —

Central items 2,082 486 2,568 9,405 329 9,734 4 56 60

Group 290,661 — 290,661 279,476 — 279,476 670 — 670

2005

Global Banking & Markets 110,597 94 110,691 96,059 — 96,059 — 14 14

UK Corporate Banking 33,217 155 33,372 32,155 — 32,155 80 27 107

Retail  53,833 1,124 54,957 57,716 — 57,716 46 197 243

Wealth Management 19,585 40 19,625 18,802 — 18,802 17 7 24

Ulster Bank 39,249 221 39,470 37,026 — 37,026 77 81 158

Manufacturing 1,876 (1,876) — 509 (509) — 328 (328) —

Central items 2,246 242 2,488 8,152 509 8,661 — 2 2

Group 260,603 — 260,603 250,419 — 250,419 548 — 548

Note:

(1) Global Banking & Markets and UK Corporate Banking were established on 1 January 2006. The figures for 2005 for Corporate Markets have now been allocated to those

segments.
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Segmental analysis of goodwill is as follows:

Group

Global
Banking & Wealth Ulster

Markets Retail Management Bank Total
£m £m £m £m £m

At 1 January 2006 108 107 131 414 760

Currency translation and other adjustments (14) (8) (7) (9) (38)

Disposals — — (3) — (3)

At 31 December 2006 94 99 121 405 719

(b) Geographical segments 

The geographical analyses in the tables below have been compiled on the basis of location of office where the transactions are recorded.

Group

Rest of
UK USA Europe the World Total 

2006 £m £m £m £m £m

Total revenue 11,811 1,140 2,506 205 15,662

Net interest income 3,865 (11) 581 14 4,449

Fees and commissions (net) 2,327 258 309 74 2,968

Income from trading activities 547 783 126 2 1,458

Other operating income 315 48 88 — 451

Total income 7,054 1,078 1,104 90 9,326

Operating profit before tax 2,434 623 399 — 3,456

Total assets 168,696 76,883 42,334 2,748 290,661

Total liabilities 163,083 74,723 38,938 2,732 279,476

Net assets attributable to equity shareholders and minority interests 5,613 2,160 3,396 16 11,185

Contingent liabilities and commitments 65,331 3,978 8,049 1,960 79,318

Cost to acquire property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 490 46 130 4 670

2005

Total revenue 10,417 1,078 1,982 164 13,641

Net interest income 3,858 12 578 13 4,461

Fees and commissions (net) 2,308 157 208 73 2,746

Income from trading activities (5) 777 33 3 808

Other operating income 493 45 97 — 635

Total income 6,654 991 916 89 8,650

Operating profit before tax 2,522 560 297 32 3,411

Total assets 138,574 74,162 44,673 3,194 260,603

Total liabilities 133,341 72,218 41,787 3,073 250,419

Net assets attributable to equity shareholders and minority interests 5,233 1,944 2,886 121 10,184

Contingent liabilities and commitments 58,025 6,231 9,177 — 73,433

Cost to acquire property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 368 29 144 7 548
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42 Directors’ and key management remuneration

The current directors of the Bank are also directors of the ultimate holding company and are remunerated for their services to the

RBS Group as a whole. The remuneration of the directors is disclosed in the Report and Accounts of the RBS Group. Pensions paid

to former directors of the Bank and their dependants amounted to £307,000 (2005 – £308,000).

Compensation of key management

The aggregate remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:
RBS Group

2006 2005
£000 £000

Short-term benefits 41,003 26,180

Post-employment benefits 11,264 9,383

Other long-term benefits 3,309 4,215

Share-based payments 2,787 1,568

58,363 41,346

43 Transactions with directors, officers and others

(a) At 31 December 2006, the amounts outstanding in relation to transactions, arrangements and agreements entered into by

authorised institutions in the Group, as defined in UK legislation, were £42,977 in respect of loans to eight persons who were

directors of the company (or persons connected with them) at any time during the financial period and £14,487,382 to 54

people who were officers of the company at any time during the financial period.

(b)For the purposes of IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’, key management comprise directors of the Bank and members of the

RBS Group’s Group Executive Management Committee. The captions in the primary financial statements include the following

amounts attributable, in aggregate, to key management:

2006 2005 
£000 £000

Loans and advances to customers 1,884 1,035

Customer accounts 1,797 378

Key management have banking relationships with Group entities which are entered into in the normal course of business.

Key management had no reportable transactions or balances with the company except for dividends.

44 Related parties

(a) Group companies provide development and other types of capital support to businesses in their roles as providers of finance.

These investments are made in the normal course of business and on arm’s-length terms. In some instances, the investment may

extend to ownership or control over 20% or more of the voting rights of the investee company. However, these investments are not

considered to give rise to transactions of a materiality requiring disclosure under IAS 24.

(b) The Group recharges The Royal Bank of Scotland Group Pension Fund with the cost of administration services incurred by it.

The amounts involved are not material to the Group.

(c) In accordance with IAS 24, transactions or balances between Group entities that have been eliminated on consolidation are not

reported.

(d) The captions in the primary financial statements of the Bank include amounts attributable to subsidiaries. These amounts have

been disclosed in aggregate in the relevant notes to the financial statements. The table below discloses items included in 

income and operating expenses on transactions between the Group and fellow subsidiaries of the RBS Group.

2006 2005 
£m £m

Income

Interest receivable 3,204 1,112

Interest payable 744 367

Fees and commissions receivable 122 94

Fees and commissions payable 106 100

Expenses

Other administrative expenses 1,761 1,529
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UK GAAP

(a) Financial instruments: financial assets 

Loans are measured at cost less provisions for bad and

doubtful debts, derivatives held-for-trading are carried at fair

value and hedging derivatives are accounted for in

accordance with the treatment of the item being hedged 

(see Derivatives and hedging below).

Debt securities and equity shares intended for use on a

continuing basis in the Group’s activities are classified as

investment securities and are stated at cost less provision for

any permanent diminution in value. The cost of dated

investment securities is adjusted for the amortisation of

premiums or discounts. Other debt securities and equity

shares are carried at fair value.

(b) Financial instruments: financial liabilities

Under UK GAAP, short positions in securities and trading

derivatives are carried at fair value; all other financial liabilities

are recorded at amortised cost.

(c) Liabilities and equity 

Under UK GAAP, all shares are classified as shareholders’

funds. An analysis of shareholders’ funds between equity and

non-equity interests is given.

(d) Effective interest rate and lending fees

Under UK GAAP, loan origination fees are recognised when

received unless they are charged in lieu of interest.

IFRS

Under IAS 39, financial assets are classified into held-to-

maturity; available-for-sale; held-for-trading; designated as at

fair value through profit or loss; and loans and receivables.

Financial assets classified as held-to-maturity or as loans and

receivables are carried at amortised cost. Other financial

assets are measured at fair value. Changes in the fair value of

available-for-sale financial assets are reported in a separate

component of shareholders’ equity. Changes in the fair value of

financial assets held-for-trading or designated as at fair value

are taken to profit or loss. Financial assets can be classified as

held-to-maturity only if they have a fixed maturity and the

reporting entity has the positive intention and ability to hold to

maturity. Trading financial assets are held for the purpose of

selling in the near term. IFRS allows any financial asset to be

designated as at fair value through profit or loss on initial

recognition. Unquoted debt financial assets that are not

classified as held-to-maturity, held-for-trading or designated as

at fair value through profit or loss are categorised as loans and

receivables. All other financial assets are classified as

available-for-sale.

IAS 39 requires all financial liabilities to be measured at

amortised cost except those held-for-trading and those that

were designated as at fair value through profit or loss on initial

recognition.

There is no concept of non-equity shares in IFRS. Instruments

are classified between equity and liabilities in accordance with

the substance of the contractual arrangements. A non-

derivative instrument is classified as equity if it does not

include a contractual obligation either to deliver cash or to

exchange financial instruments with another entity under

potentially unfavourable conditions, and, if the instrument will

or may be settled by the issue of equity, settlement does not

involve the issue of a variable number of shares. On

implementation of IAS 32, non-equity shares with a balance

sheet value of £419 million were reclassified as liabilities.

IAS 39 requires the amortised cost of a financial instrument to

be calculated using the effective interest method. The effective

interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash

flows over an instrument’s expected life to its net carrying

value. It takes into account all fees and points paid that are an

integral part of the yield, transaction costs and all other

premiums and discounts.

On implementation of IAS 39, the carrying value of financial

assets was reduced by £256 million and financial liabilities

increased by £81 million, deferred tax was reduced by £101

million and shareholders’ equity reduced by £236 million.

45 Transition to IFRS 

Implementation of IAS 32, IAS 39 and IFRS 4 on 1 January 2005
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UK GAAP

(e) Derivatives and hedging 

Under UK GAAP non-trading derivatives are accounted for on

an accruals basis in accordance with the accounting treatment

of the underlying transaction or transactions being hedged. If

a non-trading derivative transaction is terminated or ceases to

be an effective hedge, it is re-measured at fair value and any

gain or loss amortised over the remaining life of the underlying

transaction or transactions being hedged. If a hedged item is

derecognised the related non-trading derivative is remeasured

at fair value and any gain or loss taken to the income

statement.

Embedded derivatives are not bifurcated from the host

contract.

(f) Loan impairment 

Under UK GAAP provisions for bad and doubtful debts are

made so as to record impaired loans at their ultimate net

realisable value. Specific provisions are established against

individual advances or portfolios of smaller balance

homogeneous advances and the general provision covers

advances impaired at the balance sheet date but which have

not been identified as such. Interest receivable from loans and

advances is credited to the income statement as it accrues

unless there is significant doubt that it can be collected.

(g) Offset 

Under UK GAAP an intention to settle net is not a requirement

for set off; the entity must have the ability to insist on net

settlement and that ability is assured beyond doubt.

(h) Linked presentation

FRS 5 ‘Reporting the Substance of Transactions’ allows

qualifying transactions to be presented using the linked

presentation.

(i) Extinguishment of liabilities

Under UK GAAP, recognition of a financial liability ceases once

any transfer of economic benefits to the creditor is no longer likely.

IFRS

Under IAS 39, all derivatives are measured at fair value. Hedge

accounting is permitted for three types of hedge relationship:

fair value hedge – the hedge of changes in the fair value of a

recognised asset or liability or firm commitment; cash flow

hedge – the hedge of variability in cash flows from a

recognised asset or liability or a forecasted transaction; and

the hedge of a net investment in a foreign entity. In a fair value

hedge the gain or loss on the derivative is recognised in profit

or loss as it arises offset by the corresponding gain or loss on

the hedged item attributable to the risk hedged. In a cash flow

hedge and in the hedge of a net investment in a foreign entity,

the element of the derivative’s gain or loss that is an effective

hedge is recognised directly in equity. The ineffective element

is taken to the income statement. Certain conditions must be

met for a relationship to qualify for hedge accounting. These

include designation, documentation and prospective and

actual hedge effectiveness. On implementation of IAS 39,

non-trading derivatives were remeasured at fair value.

A derivative embedded in a contract is accounted for as a

stand-alone derivative if its economic characteristics are not

closely related to the economic characteristics of the host

contract, unless the entire contract is carried at fair value

through profit or loss.

IFRS require impairment losses on financial assets carried at

amortised cost to be measured as the difference between the

asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated

future cash flows discounted at the asset's original effective

interest rate. There is no concept of specific and general

provision – under IFRS impairment is assessed individually for

individually significant assets but can be assessed collectively

for other assets. Once an impairment loss has been

recognised on a financial asset or group of financial assets,

interest income is recognised on the carrying amount using the

rate of interest at which estimated future cash flows were

discounted in measuring impairment.

For a financial asset and a financial liability to be offset, IFRS

require that an entity must intend to settle on a net basis or to

realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

On implementation of IAS 32, the balance sheet value 

of financial assets and financial liabilities increased by 

£34 billion.

There is no linked presentation under IFRS. If substantially all

the risks and rewards have been retained, the gross assets

and related funding are presented separately.

A financial liability is removed from the balance sheet when,

and only when, it is extinguished i.e. when the obligation

specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires.

45 Transition to IFRS 

Implementation of IAS 32, IAS 39 and IFRS 4 on 1 January 2005 (continued)
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Analysis of IAS 32, IAS 39 and IFRS 4 adjustments

Balance sheet at 1 January 2005 – Group

IFRS Provisioning IFRS
31 December Other Debt/ Classification/ Embedded and Hedging/ Revenue Total 1 January

2004 Offset IAS 39 equity measurement derivatives impairment measurement Derecognition recognition Other adjustments 2005
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Assets

Cash and balances at 

central banks 1,589 — — — — — — — — — — — 1,589

Treasury bills and 

other eligible bills 172 — — — — — — — — — — — 172

Loans and advances 

to banks 29,982 12,209 4 — — — — 28 — — 1 12,242 42,224

Loans and advances 

to customers 131,679 19,588 551 — (1) — (218) 133 1,479 (254) (2) 21,276 152,955

Debt securities 22,426 — 138 — (2) — — — — — — 136 22,562

Equity shares 1,338 — — — 289 — — — — — — 289 1,627

Intangible assets 1,244 — — — — — — — — — — — 1,244

Property, plant and 

equipment 1,542 — — — — — — — — — — — 1,542

Settlement balances 3,538 — — — — — — — — — — — 3,538

Derivatives at fair value 1,366 1,983 — — 3 60 — 366 — — (1) 2,411 3,777

Prepayments,

accrued income

and other assets 2,345 — (693) — (2) (15) — (202) 295 (2) 52 (567) 1,778

Total assets 197,221 33,780 — — 287 45 (218) 325 1,774 (256) 50 35,787 233,008

Liabilities

Deposits by banks 23,873 12,209 8 — — — — 10 — — — 12,227 36,100

Customer accounts 126,119 19,588 349 — (2) (15) (18) 99 — — 20,001 146,120

Debt securities in issue 3,597 — — — — — — — 1,479 — 1 1,480 5,077

Settlement balances 

and short positions 21,670 — 163 — — — — — — — — 163 21,833

Derivatives at fair value 1,105 1,983 — — 3 60 — 457 — — — 2,503 3,608

Accruals, deferred 

income and other 

liabilities 4,539 — (623) (7) 76 (3) — (291) 295 81 — (472) 4,067

Retirement benefit 

liabilities 2,093 — — — — — — — — — — — 2,093

Deferred taxation 

liabilities — — — — 86 1 (55) 50 (30) (101) 49 — —

Subordinated liabilities 5,808 — 103 426 — — — — — — 1 530 6,338

Minority interests 408 — — (6) — — — — — — — (6) 402

Shareholders’ equity 8,009 — — (413) 124 2 (163) 117 (69) (236) (1) (639) 7,370

Total liabilities and equity 197,221 33,780 — — 287 45 (218) 325 1,774 (256) 50 35,787 233,008
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45 Transition to IFRS 

Analysis of IAS 32, IAS 39 and IFRS 4 adjustments (continued)

Balance sheet at 1 January 2005 – Bank

IFRS Provisioning IFRS
31 December Other Debt/ Classification/ Embedded and Hedging/ Revenue Total 1 January

2004 Offset IAS 39 equity measurement derivatives impairment measurement Derecognition recognition Other adjustments 2005
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Assets

Cash and balances at 

central banks 956 — — — — — — — — — — — 956

Loans and advances 

to banks 15,994 2,885 — — — — — 25 — — — 2,910 18,904

Loans and advances 

to customers 77,619 10,880 409 (33) — — (207) 133 — (272) 1 10,911 88,530

Debt securities 39 — — — — — — — — — — — 39

Equity shares 587 — — — 288 — — — — — — 288 875

Investment in Group

undertakings 6,253 — — 31 — — — — — — — 31 6,284

Intangible assets 434 — — — — — — — — — — — 434

Property, plant and 

equipment 1,247 — — — — — — — — — — — 1,247

Derivatives at fair value 704 706 — — — 7 — 121 — — — 834 1,538

Prepayments,

accrued income

and other assets 1,834 — (409) — — (7) — 38 — — 36 (342) 1,492

Total assets 105,667 14,471 — (2) 288 — (207) 317 — (272) 37 14,632 120,299

Liabilities

Deposits by banks 3,480 2,885 3 — — — — — — — (1) 2,887 6,367

Customer accounts 87,925 10,880 264 — — (7) — 99 — — 11,236 99,161

Debt securities in issue 39 — — — — — — — — — — — 39

Derivatives at fair value 283 706 — — — 7 — 419 — — — 1,132 1,415

Accruals, deferred 

income and other 

liabilities 2,171 — (370) (6) 1 — — (270) — 78 (3) (570) 1,601

Retirement benefit 

liabilities 1,920 — — — — — — — — — — — 1,920

Deferred tax — — — — 86 — (36) 46 (30) (105) 39 — —

Subordinated liabilities 4,747 — 103 426 — — — — — — 1 530 5,277

Shareholders’ equity 5,102 — — (422) 201 — (171) 122 (69) (245) 1 (583) 4,519

Total liabilities and equity 105,667 14,471 — (2) 288 — (207) 317 — (272) 37 14,632 120,299
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Reconciliation of shareholders’ funds Group Bank
£m £m

Shareholders' funds under IFRS at 31 December 2004 8,009 5,102

Standards applicable from 1 January 2005:

Non-equity shares reclassified to debt (419) (419)

Revenue recognition (337) (350)

Derecognition (99) (99)

Securities 210 287

Other (43) (2)

Tax effect on adjustments 49 —

Shareholders' funds under IFRS at 1 January 2005 7,370 4,519

Equity – minority interests 402 —

Equity under IFRS at 1 January 2005 7,772 4,519

Group Bank

Fair value on Carrying value Fair value on Carrying value
implementation of IAS 39 under UK GAAP implementation of IAS 39 under UK GAAP

As at 1 January 2005 £m £m £m £m

Financial assets

– designated as at fair value through profit or loss 1,137 1,062 60 60

– available-for-sale 3,851 3,562 911 624

Financial liabilities

– designated as at fair value through profit or loss 1,326 1,259 60 60
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46 Restatement of cash flow statements

The Group and Bank cash flow statements for the year ended 31 December 2005 have been restated to correct an inadvertent error

in the calculation of the effects of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents. No other caption is affected and

the amount of cash and cash equivalents is unchanged.

The tables below show the effect of the restatements:

(a) Cash flow statements 2005

Previously
reported Restated

£m £m

Group

Elimination of foreign exchange differences and other non-cash items 4,227 (3,185)

Net cash inflow from trading activities 7,466 54

Net cash flows from operating activities before tax 31,639 24,227

Net cash flows from operating activities 30,469 23,057

Effects of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (4,791) 2,621

Bank

Elimination of foreign exchange differences and other non-cash items (499) (881)

Net cash inflow from trading activities 1,546 1,164

Net cash flows from operating activities before tax 7,556 7,174

Net cash flows from operating activities 6,894 6,512

Effects of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (247) 135

(b) Note 35 – Net cash inflow from operating activities 2005

Previously
reported Restated

£m £m

Group

Elimination of foreign exchange differences and other non-cash items 5,007 (2,405)

Net cash inflow from trading activities 7,466 54

Net cash flows from operating activities 30,469 23,057

Bank

Elimination of foreign exchange differences and other non-cash items 511 129

Net cash inflow from trading activities 1,546 1,164

Net cash flows from operating activities 6,894 6,512

47 Ultimate holding company

The Group’s ultimate holding company and ultimate controlling party is The Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc and its immediate

parent company is The Royal Bank of Scotland plc. Both companies are incorporated in Great Britain and registered in Scotland.

As at 31 December 2006, The Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc heads the largest group in which the Group is consolidated and

The Royal Bank of Scotland plc heads the smallest group in which the Group is consolidated. Copies of the consolidated accounts

of both companies may be obtained from The Secretary, The Royal Bank of Scotland Group plc, Gogarburn, PO Box 1000,

Edinburgh EH12 1HQ.

48 Post balance sheet events

In the Budget on 21 March 2007, the UK Government proposed, amongst other things, to reduce Corporation Tax rates by 2% to 28%

with effect from 1 April 2008. There have been no other events between the year end and the date of approval of these accounts

which could require a change to or disclosure in the accounts.
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Additional information

Amounts in accordance with IFRS
2006 2005 2004 

Summary consolidated income statement – IFRS £m £m £m

Net interest income 4,449 4,461 4,383 

Non-interest income 4,877 4,189 3,640

Total income 9,326 8,650 8,023 

Operating expenses (1) 5,018 4,483 4,168

Operating profit before impairment losses 4,308 4,167 3,855

Impairment losses 852 756 625

Operating profit before tax 3,456 3,411 3,230

Tax 831 948 866

Profit after tax 2,625 2,463 2,364

Minority interests 39 17 12

Preference dividends — — 36

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 2,586 2,446 2,316

Note:

(1) Includes integration expenditure of £67 million for the year ended 31 December 2006 (2005 – £163 million, 2004 – £297 million).

2006 2005 2004 
Summary consolidated balance sheet – IFRS £m £m £m

Loans and advances 243,974 215,938 161,661

Debt securities and equity shares 33,426 29,568 23,764

Derivatives and settlement balances 6,320 6,907 4,904

Other assets 6,941 8,190 6,892

Total assets 290,661 260,603 197,221

Shareholders’ equity 10,173 9,440 8,009

Minority interests 1,012 744 408

Subordinated liabilities 5,641 6,648 5,808

Total capital resources 16,826 16,832 14,225

Deposits 227,477 203,925 149,992

Derivatives, settlement balances and short positions 26,617 24,231 22,775

Other liabilities 19,741 15,615 10,229

Total liabilities and equity 290,661 260,603 197,221

Amounts in accordance with UK GAAP 2004 2003 2002
£m £m £m

Profit before provisions 4,108 3,679 3,105

Provisions for bad and doubtful debts 625 549 508

Amounts written-off fixed asset investments — 1 8

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 3,483 3,129 2,589

Tax on profit on ordinary activities 955 946 714

Profit on ordinary activities after tax 2,528 2,183 1,875

£m £m £m

Shareholders’ funds 9,138 9,038 9,165

Minority interests 408 3 47

Dated loan capital 3,074 3,272 3,341

Undated loan capital including convertible debt 2,734 2,471 2,592

Total capital resources 15,354 14,784 15,145

£bn £bn £bn

Loans and advances to customers (net of provisions) 131.4 102.6 112.1

Customer accounts 126.1 116.6 111.5

Total assets 196.3 172.9 171.9



Annual Report and Accounts 200680

Principal offices

National Westminster Bank Plc

135 Bishopsgate London EC2M 3UR

Ulster Bank

11-16 Donegall Square East Belfast BT1 5UB

George’s Quay Dublin 2

RBS Greenwich Capital 

600 Steamboat Road Greenwich Connecticut 06830 USA

Coutts Group

440 Strand London WC2R 0QS




